

What Influences the Success Sequence and Economic Self-Sufficiency? Findings from a Mixed-Method Study

OPRE Report Number 2023-251

Fall 2023

This page has been left blank for double-sided copying.

What Influences the Success Sequence and **Economic Self-Sufficiency? Findings From a Mixed-Method Study**

September 2023

Hande Inanc, Ariella Spitzer, Briana Starks, Mathematica

Submitted to: Caryn Blitz, Project Officer Kathleen McCoy, Project Monitor, VPD Government Solutions Administration for Children and Families U.S. Department of Health and Human Services

Contract Number: HHSP233201500035I/HHSP23337031T

Project Director: Susan G. Zief Mathematica P.O. Box 2393 Princeton, NJ 08543-2393

This report is in the public domain. Permission to reproduce is not necessary. Suggested citation: Inanc, Hande, Ariella Spitzer, and Briana Starks (2023). What Influences the Success Sequence and Economic Self-Sufficiency? Findings from a Mixed-Method Study. OPRE Report # 2023-251, Washington, DC: Office of Planning, Research, and Evaluation, Administration for Children and Families, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

Disclaimer

The views expressed in this publication do not necessarily reflect the views or policies of the Office of Planning, Research, and Evaluation, the Administration for Children and Families, or the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

This report and other reports sponsored by the Office of Planning, Research and Evaluation are available at www.acf.hhs.gov/opre.

Sign-up for the OPRE Newsletter.



Follow OPRE on Twitter **@OPRE ACF**



Like OPRE's page on Facebook OPRE.ACF





Connect on LinkedIn company/opreacf







This page has been left blank for double-sided copying.

Acknowledgments

Many people contributed in significant ways to this report. First, we acknowledge the valued support of staff at the Office of Planning, Research, and Evaluation (OPRE) and the Family and Youth Services Bureau (FYSB) at the Administration for Children and Families, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. We particularly thank our project officer, Caryn Blitz, and project monitor, Kathleen McCoy, for their oversight and guidance throughout the project and for reviewing and providing thoughtful comments on earlier drafts of this report. We are also grateful for the feedback from Lauren Supplee, Samantha Illangasekare, and Maria Woolverton. We appreciate and thank the grantees who attended the success sequence panel session at the Adolescent Pregnancy Prevention Grantee Conference in Atlanta in May 2023 and shared their feedback and reactions to our findings.

We also received support from many of our colleagues at Mathematica. We thank Brian Goesling for serving as senior advisor and for his expert guidance, and Lauren Scher for quality assurance review. We thank Susan Zief and Heather Zaveri for brainstorming sessions to synthesize our findings. Addison Larson and Jeremy Page provided critical data processing and programming support for our quantitative analysis of the National Longitudinal Survey of Youth, 1997 Cohort (NLSY97) data, and Diletta Mitteno provided excellent research assistance. Numerous Mathematica staff helped code and analyze the qualitative interviews, including Stacie Feldman, Maya Reid, Lourdes Fernandez, Macy Miller, Rhiannon Jones, Chidinma Nwankwo, and Amelia Forman. Susan Gonzalez and Effie Metropoulos edited the report; Brigitte Tran provided graphic support; and Dorothy Bellow and Sharon Clark produced it.

This research uses quantitative data from the NLSY97 and qualitative interviews conducted by Mathematica. The NLSY97 is sponsored and directed by the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics and managed by the Center for Human Resource Research at The Ohio State University. Interviews for the NLSY97 are conducted by the National Opinion Research Center at the University of Chicago. Qualitative interviews were conducted by Mathematica staff including Maya Reid, Stacie Feldman, Sarah Wagner, Macy Miller, Joshua Holbrook, Veena Prakriya, Elizabeth Mugo, Ryan Fiorito, Amelia Forman, Tiffany Waits, Erin Boyle, Amy Harris, and Giovanna Bautista Rodriguez, to whom we are grateful. We also thank the 225 participants from our qualitative interviews for their willingness to share their life stories with Mathematica's interview team.

> Hande Inanc Ariella Spitzer Briana Starks

This page has been left blank for double-sided copying.

Contents

Overviewix					
A.	Introduction	1			
В.	Data, methods, and definitions	3			
	Data and methods	4			
	Key definitions	6			
	Economic self-sufficiency	7			
	Factors explored in the study	7			
C.	What explains individual milestone completion and success sequence?	9			
	Findings on individual milestones	9			
	High school completion	11			
	Employment	11			
	Marriage	12			
	Childbearing				
	Findings on the order of milestone completion	13			
D.	What explains who becomes economically self-sufficient?	15			
	Barriers to economic self-sufficiency among those who followed a success sequence pathway				
	Facilitators of economic self-sufficiency among those who did not follow a success sequence pathway	17			
	The differential effects of the pandemic on economic self-sufficiency	17			
E.	Discussion				
	Limitations of the study				
	Practical implications	19			
Ref	References				
Арр	Appendix A Data and MethodsA-				
Арр	Appendix B Supplementary Tables and FiguresB-1				

Tables

A.1	Description of the available NLSY97 roundsA	-0
A.2	Individual factors defined in youthA	-2
A.3	List of quantitative report analysesA	-8
A.4	Recruitment targets by interview languageA	-9
A.5	2021 household income for interview participants A-	14
B.1	Characteristics of respondents in the NLSY97 analytic sampleB	-3
B.2	Characteristics of respondents in the qualitative interview sampleB	-4
B.3	Results of step-wise variance decomposition for milestones and orderB	-8
B.4	Results of step-wise variance decomposition for economic self-sufficiencyB-	17

Figures

1	Mixed-method approach and data sources used	4
2	Categories of individual characteristics defined by age 18, using NLSY97	8
3	Factors associated with completing individual success sequence milestones1	0
4	Factors associated with following a success sequence pathway1	4
5	Rates of economic self-sufficiency by whether respondents followed a success sequence pathway (percentages)	5
6	Factors associated with economic self-sufficiency1	6
A.1	Snapshot of topics covered in success sequence interviews A-1	0
B.1	Sequences of milestones by age 30 (by percentage completing)B-	5
B.2	Sequences of milestones by ages 30 to 35 (by number completing)B-	6
B.3	Factors associated with non-poverty statusB-	7

Overview

The success sequence is a term discussed in the context of policy approaches for reducing poverty and improving economic opportunity for adolescents and young adults. The term refers to a series of milestones in life—most commonly including high school completion, full-time employment, and waiting for marriage to have children—that are associated with escaping poverty and joining the middle class. These milestones are described as a sequence to emphasize that their order also matters.

This is the third in a series of reports on the success sequence conducted by Mathematica for the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS). The first report (Goesling et al. 2020) reviewed existing evidence on the success sequence and found that, despite a large body of research showing that education, employment, and nonmarital childbearing are all interconnected and strongly associated with economic outcomes in adulthood, there is limited evidence on whether the order of these milestones matters.

To expand the available evidence on the success sequence, the second report investigated the relationship between success sequence milestones completed by age 30 and economic self-sufficiency indicators observed between ages 35–40 (Inanc et al. 2021). Findings from this second report showed that adolescents take diverse pathways in their transition to adulthood—not all of which align with the success sequence model. The report also revealed that adhering to the success sequence and economic self-sufficiency in adulthood is not a one-to-one relationship. Some adolescents who followed the success sequence did not reach economic self-sufficiency by their early 30s. There were other pathways that did not align with the success sequence but were associated with a similarly high likelihood of avoiding poverty and joining the middle class. All of these findings demonstrate that the success sequence alone does not determine economic self-sufficiency while others on the same pathways who complete the same milestones do not achieve this economic success.

To explore and understand what influences whether someone completes success sequence milestones, completes them in order, and achieves economic self-sufficiency, HHS contracted Mathematica to conduct a third study that relied on both quantitative and qualitative data. Specifically, this mixed-methods study addressed two main research questions: (1) What are the factors associated with the sequence of milestone completion? (2) Among people who take similar pathways—those who follow the success sequence and those who do not—what are the factors associated with achieving economic self-sufficiency?

This third report uses data from two complementary sources: (1) nationally representative quantitative data from the National Longitudinal Survey of Youth, 1997 Cohort (NLSY97) and (2) qualitative data collected by the study team through online written interviews with 225 adults ages 30–35. We considered respondents as following a success sequence pathway if they either completed all milestones (high school completion, full-time employment, marriage, and childbearing) in the prescribed order or were on track to complete them in order by age 30 or by the date of their qualitative interview. We defined economic self-sufficiency as achieving middle-class status, measured by having a household income above 300 percent of the federal poverty level, adjusted for household size. To understand influences on young adults'

milestone completion and economic self-sufficiency, we identified and organized potential influences around groups of factors. In our quantitative analysis, we focused on factors observed up until age 18, such as parent and family characteristics; childhood characteristics and influences; and adolescent characteristics. In our qualitative analysis, we identified factors that emerge both during and after youth, such as personal values, family support, and economic conditions.

For the specific factors influencing the completion of each milestone, our quantitative analysis showed that parent and family characteristics were the most important category for high school completion, employment, and childbearing. However, the ways that parents and family influence individuals vary across milestones. Our qualitative interviews suggest that although a stable home environment is an important factor enabling high school completion, family values are more important for completion of the marriage milestone. Adolescent characteristics, behaviors, and relationships were also an important category explaining who completes each milestone.

The factors that partially explain who follows a success sequence pathway were similar to those that explain achievement of individual milestones. The quantitative analysis showed that parents and family, followed by adolescent characteristics, behaviors, and relationships, were again the two categories of factors that played the largest role explaining who did and did not follow a success sequence pathway. In interviews, most participants said they planned to follow a success sequence pathway, but only some of them were able to. Those who could not reported encountering barriers they had not anticipated, such as lack of parental support and health problems.

Our quantitative analysis exploring what factors explain who becomes economically self-sufficient showed that parent and family characteristics play the largest role in explaining middle-income status for both participants who followed the success sequence and those who did not. The interviews also revealed barriers to and facilitators of economic self-sufficiency. People who followed the success sequence and did not achieve economic self-sufficiency faced barriers such as mental or physical health troubles, child-care constraints, and stable but low-paying jobs. People who did not follow the success sequence and achieved economic self-sufficiency credited factors such as the support of family and social networks, postsecondary education, working their way up from entry-level jobs, and luck.

Factors explored in our quantitative analysis can partially explain differing degrees of the variance in who achieves individual milestones, the success sequence, or economic self-sufficiency. For example, with the factors explored in NLSY97, we can explain 53 percent of the variance in who graduates from high school and 24 percent of the variance in who follows a success sequence pathway. This highlights the degree to which the variance in our outcomes is driven by factors that are not captured in our quantitative data. Qualitative interviews highlight that this variance is driven both by factors not captured in quantitative data and factors that emerge in adulthood.

Based on the findings in this report, curriculum developers and program providers should acknowledge that communicating with youth about the success sequence and its association with economic self-sufficiency may not be sufficient for youth to follow it. Programming should also focus on supporting youth who face external barriers to achieving the success sequence. In addition, given our previous report (Inanc et al. 2021) and findings from this study on the diversity of pathways youth take in their transition to adulthood, curriculum developers and program providers must also account for the likelihood that

some program participants are already on a pathway that does not align with the success sequence. It is important to ensure messaging does not alienate participants who might already be completing the milestones out of order from feeling as though the curricula are not relevant to them.

This page has been left blank for double-sided copying.

A. Introduction

The success sequence is a term discussed in the context of policy approaches for reducing poverty and improving economic opportunity for adolescents and young adults. The term refers to a series of milestones in life associated with escaping poverty and joining the middle class. It gained currency in the early 2000s and became particularly popular through Ron Haskins and Isabel Sawhill's 2009 book, *Creating an Opportunity Society*. Although the exact milestones that constitute the success sequence model and their definitions have changed and evolved over time, typically, it refers to completing high school, obtaining full-time employment, and waiting until marriage to have children. The definition of the term also emphasizes the importance of the sequencing of these milestones.

Policy approaches influenced by the success sequence theory emphasize educational programming and public awareness campaigns to spread knowledge around the importance of following success sequence milestones in order to achieve economic self-sufficiency. For example, in their book, Haskins and Sawhill (2009) argued that federal policies and programs should encourage young adults to follow the success sequence as a way to achieve self-sufficiency as adults. The success sequence has become an intentional focus of Sexual Risk Avoidance programs in the context of empowering youth to avoid sexual risk, build healthy relationships, and achieve academic success (Humes et al. 2020). The Family and Youth Services Bureau's (FYSB) federal Sexual Risk Avoidance Education Program currently requires grantees to incorporate the benefits of the success sequence into the educational programming they offer to adolescents and young adults (FYSB 2020). Despite the popularity of this term and its influence on Sexual Risk Avoidance programs, evidence on the effect of following the success sequence has been limited until recently.

This report is the third in a series of reports on the success sequence conducted by Mathematica for the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. The first report reviewed existing evidence on the success sequence (Goesling et al. 2020). It found that, despite a large body of research showing that education, employment, and nonmarital childbearing are all interconnected and strongly associated with economic outcomes in adulthood, studies on the success sequence provide limited evidence on whether the order of these milestones matters.

The second report presented findings from a quantitative analysis using two nationally representative longitudinal data sets (Inanc et al. 2021). Specifically, it investigated the relationship between success sequence milestones (defined as high school completion, full-time employment, marriage, and childbearing) completed by age 30 and economic self-sufficiency indicators observed between ages 35–40. The analysis was informed by a technical working group of experts who served as advisors on the methods and approach used in this study.¹

Findings from this second report showed that adolescents take diverse pathways in their transition to adulthood—not all of which align with the success sequence model. For example, some people start work before completing high school. Others get married relatively early in life, before having a full-time job.

¹ The technical working group included Katherine Bradley, John Iceland, Alexandra Killewald, Robert Lerman, Shelly Lundberg, Joseph Price, Isabell Sawhill, Jerry Regier, Wendy Wang, Brad Wilcox, and Jay Zagorsky.

Overall, the analysis found that fewer than half of young adults (43 percent) followed a pathway that aligned with the success sequence by their early 30s. This finding raises the question of why some people adhere to the success sequence model and others do not. Furthermore, findings showed that the most common combinations and sequences of milestones vary by gender, race and ethnicity, and parental level of education. The share of young adults adhering to the success sequence model also differs by these demographic characteristics. These results highlight the importance of understanding the factors and circumstances that lead young adults to the various pathways and milestone completion, and raise the following questions: Do differences in milestone completion primarily reflect differences in demographic and family background characteristics? Or do differences in personal values; environmental characteristics; childhood experiences; and adolescent characteristics, behaviors, and relationships also play a role?

The second report also showed that adherence to the success sequence and economic self-sufficiency in adulthood is not a one-to-one relationship. Young adults who completed the success sequence milestones in the prescribed order had a high chance of avoiding poverty and joining the middle class in young adulthood, but some adolescents who followed the success sequence did not reach economic self-sufficiency by their early 30s. There were also other pathways that did not align with the success sequence but were associated with a similarly high likelihood of avoiding poverty and joining the middle class. For example, young adults who completed the milestones in a different order, such as those who completed high school, got married, and had children without getting a full-time job, had a similar or greater probability of economic self-sufficiency as those who completed all milestones in the prescribed order.

All of these findings demonstrate that the success sequence alone does not determine economic selfsufficiency, highlighting the importance of understanding why some people achieve economic selfsufficiency and others do not despite similarities in pathways and milestone completion. The results taken together also raise the question of what role milestone completion plays in explaining who does and does not achieve economic self-sufficiency. For example, individuals with more highly educated parents are more likely to complete the success sequence and also more likely to achieve economic self-sufficiency. However, it is unclear how much of this finding is due to completing the success sequence and how much is due to advantages that may come with having parents who are highly educated.

To explore and understand what influences whether someone completes success sequence milestones, whether someone completes them in order, and whether someone achieves economic self-sufficiency, the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services contracted Mathematica to conduct a follow-up study that relies on both quantitative and qualitative data. Specifically, this mixed-methods study addressed two main research questions:

- 1. What are the factors associated with the sequence of milestone completion?
 - a. What are the factors associated with completing each milestone?
 - b. What are the factors associated with completing the milestones in the prescribed order of the success sequence?
- **2.** Among people who take similar pathways, what are the factors associated with achieving economic self-sufficiency?

- a. What are the factors associated with following the success sequence milestones in the prescribed order and not achieving economic self-sufficiency?
- b. What are the factors associated with not following the success sequence milestones in the prescribed order and achieving economic self-sufficiency?

The remainder of the report is divided into four sections. We begin by describing the data and methods used for the study (Section B). Next, we present the results for our first research question and focus on the factors associated with completing the success sequence and its milestones (Section C). Then we present the results for our second research question and focus on the factors associated with economic self-sufficiency among a group of young adults who follow and do not follow the success sequence (Section D). We end by summarizing key findings, detailing the limitations of our study, and discussing the practical implications of the findings for educational programming (Section E). The report appendices provide more detailed information on the study methods and findings.

B. Data, methods, and definitions

This report uses data from two complementary sources: (1) nationally representative quantitative data from the National Longitudinal Survey of Youth, 1997 Cohort (NLSY97) and (2) qualitative data collected by the study team through asynchronous written interviews with 225 adults ages 30–35. This approach of using two complementary data sources is rooted in the mixed-methods tradition of explanatory sequential design (Creswell et al. 2003), which involves collecting and analyzing quantitative and then qualitative data in two consecutive phases within one study (Ivankova et al. 2006). The quantitative analysis enables us to identify common patterns in a representative sample and produce robust, generalizable findings. The qualitative analysis enables us to address the "why" part of the research questions by incorporating the actual voices of those who have or have not completed the success sequence.

In addition, the use of two complementary data sources enables us to look at the influences on youth pathways from both prospective and retrospective perspectives (Figure 1). The quantitative analysis involves a prospective approach that draws on a large sample of individuals who were first interviewed when they were teenagers and then re-interviewed every or every other year until their mid-to-late thirties. This type of prospective, longitudinal data collection enables us to identify influences and circumstances early in life that can predict future milestone completion and economic outcomes. In contrast, the qualitative analysis involves a retrospective approach, drawing on participants' reflections and recollection enables us to examine contextual factors, decisions, and circumstances around education, employment, family life, and economic stability after they have occurred. In particular, the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, which occurred between the longitudinal data collection and the qualitative data collection, impacted the experiences of young adults around milestone completion. Taken together, the prospective and retrospective time frames of our analysis help provide a more complete picture regarding factors that influence whether someone completes success sequence milestones, completes them in order, and their economic outcomes.





Note: NLSY97 = National Longitudinal Survey of Youth, 1997 Cohort.

Note that our analysis does not support an assessment of causality between factors and adherence to the success sequence or economic self-sufficiency outcomes. The observed associations and relationships may be a result of other factors that are not included in our data or that are unobservable; therefore, the results should not be interpreted as causal. In addition, because the samples used in the quantitative and qualitative parts of the study are distinct, our findings should be interpreted as complementary to one another.

Data and methods

Quantitative analysis

For the **quantitative analysis**, we used data from the NLSY97. The analytic sample includes 7,146 individuals who were born between 1980 and 1984 and were ages 13–17 in 1997 when they were first interviewed. We used data through the 18th round of interviews conducted in 2017–2018 when members of our analytical sample were ages 32–38. Appendix Table B.1 provides an overview of the characteristics of the sample, which is weighted to be representative of the full U.S. population.

The NLSY97 collects in-depth information on respondent characteristics, experiences, and attitudes over the progression of their transition to adulthood. In addition, there is a survey of parents and caregivers which is used to collect additional information on the respondent's parent characteristics, family characteristics, and childhood experiences. We used these data to identify factors that influence the sequence of milestones youth complete as they transition to adulthood, their milestone completion pathway, and whether they achieve economic self-sufficiency.

To analyze how factors defined in youth can explain milestone completion and economic self-sufficiency in adulthood, we performed a quantitative analysis known as a step-wise variance decomposition (Anglim and Grant 2014; Ghani and Ahmad 2010). The analysis involved three distinct steps. First, relying on information collected through the NLSY97, we identified individual characteristics that are predictive of milestone completion and economic outcomes; we also grouped these individual characteristics into six categories which are experienced sequentially during adolescence (shown later in Figure 2). Second, we used NLSY97 data on high school completion, employment, marriage, and childbearing to identify which success sequence milestone each respondent completed and when, and the specific milestone sequence competed by age 30. Third, we assessed how well each of the six categories of individual characteristics identified in the first step of the analysis predict the pathways and self-sufficiency outcomes defined in the second step. See Appendix A.1 for additional details of this analysis.

Qualitative analysis

For the qualitative analysis, members of the study team conducted asynchronous written interviews with 225 adults aged 30–35, who participated by logging in to an online chat board called QualBoard and responding to interview questions moderated by members of the study team. Asynchronous interviews meant that participants were not necessarily online at the same time as the interviewer, and participants could log in and out of the interview at their convenience (see Appendix A.2 for additional details on data collection). We purposefully selected these 225 participants to capture the diversity of pathways adolescents take (the number and the order of milestones they complete) in the transition to adulthood. We set recruitment targets to ensure participant representation across the different pathways, as well as the diversity of participant background characteristics (see Appendix Exhibit B.2 for sample characteristics). The resulting sample, therefore, may differ from the U.S. population overall, in terms of sociodemographic characteristics. For example, our sample is more educated than the U.S. population and includes more women (54 percent) than men (46 percent).²

We used the interview data to obtain a more in-depth understanding of the circumstances that influence young adults' pathways to adulthood. First, using close-ended questions on milestone completion and dates, we identified who completed which milestones and in what order, along with participants' economic self-sufficiency status. In doing so, we followed an approach that is as similar as possible to the one we used in our quantitative analysis. Second, using answers to open-ended questions, we grouped responses around the reasons participants achieved or did not achieve each milestone and whether they achieved economic self-sufficiency status. This enabled us to identify common themes and connect those themes to findings from the quantitative analysis and gain a deeper understanding why/why not or how individuals achieved the success sequence or economic self-sufficiency.

² Among participants in the qualitative interviews, 41.3 percent reported completing a bachelor's degree or higher, whereas 37.9 percent of the U.S. population had completed a bachelor's degree or higher in 2021 (U.S. Census Bureau 2021).

Key definitions

Success sequence milestones

We defined the success sequence by the four individual milestones and defined each milestone as closely as possible to the definitions used in our earlier report (Inanc et al. 2021):

- **High school completion.** We defined respondents as having completed this milestone if they reported having obtained a high school diploma at any time by age 30 in the NLSY97 (in our quantitative analysis) or by their interview date (in our qualitative analysis). We excluded GED receipt from our primary definition of this milestone because GED recipients tend to have different outcomes than people who receive high school diplomas (for example, Ewert 2012).
- **Full-time employment.** We defined respondents as having completed this milestone if they reported having worked at least 35 hours per week for at least 40 weeks in any given 52-week period by age 30 in the NLSY97 or having ever worked at least 35 hours per week when they were not in school full time by their interview date.
- **Marriage.** We defined respondents as having completed this milestone if they reported having gotten married at any time by age 30 in the NLSY97 or by their interview date.
- **Childbearing.** We defined respondents as having completed this milestone if they reported having any biological children by age 30 in the NLSY97 or any children—biological or otherwise—by their interview date.

Using these definitions, we found that there are individuals in our quantitative sample who followed 64 of the 65 possible sequences of milestones. To see the share of each sample who completed each sequence of milestones, see Appendix Figure B.1 (NLSY97) and B.2 (qualitative interview sample). We identified respondents as following a success sequence pathway as either having completed all four milestones in the prescribed order (for example, Haskins and Sawhill 2003, 2009) or being on track to complete them in order (for example, Wilcox and Wang 2017) by age 30 or by their qualitative interview date. Note: Given that average age at marriage and childbearing has increased over the last couple of decades, we are not able to fully capture these milestones in our analysis because we measure them by age 30 (in NLSY97) or when participants are ages 30–35 (in qualitative interviews). Therefore, it is likely that some of the respondents who we identify as "on track" will complete the full success sequence later in life.

Therefore, we consider those who completed the following pathways as following the success sequence:

- High school graduation, followed by full-time employment, followed by marriage and then childbearing
- High school graduation, followed by full-time employment, followed by marriage (without having had a child)
- High school graduation, followed by full-time employment (without having gotten married or having had a child)

Economic self-sufficiency

We defined economic self-sufficiency as achieving middle-class status, measured by having a household income above 300 percent of the federal poverty level (FPL), adjusted for household size. We measured economic self-sufficiency at ages 32–38 (in NLSY97) or (for interview respondents) by the time of interview when respondents were ages 30–35. We chose to measure economic self-sufficiency in reference to middle-income status (above 300 percent FPL) rather than in reference to poverty status (above 100 percent FPL), because in our qualitative sample the number of participants falling under the FPL is small—only 14 out of 225 participants were in poverty. In our quantitative analysis, as well as in our earlier report (Inanc et al. 2021), we also replicated our regression models for poverty status. Overall, our findings for these two alternative measures of economic self-sufficiency have similar patterns.

Factors explored in the study

To understand influences on young adults' milestone completion and economic self-sufficiency, we organized potential influences around groups of factors. By factors, we mean a circumstance, fact, or event that may contribute to a result or outcome.

Factors included in the quantitative analysis

In our quantitative analysis of the NLSY97 data, we focused on factors that are defined by the time a respondent is 18 years old and therefore before milestones were completed, allowing us to take a prospective approach to understanding influences on milestone completion and economic self-sufficiency.³ We started by identifying all factors available in our data that previous research suggests are associated with completing success sequence milestones and economic self-sufficiency. Next, because many of these individual factors are potentially strongly related to one another, we grouped them into six categories. Each of these categories is supported by literature documenting causal impacts on employment and earnings in adulthood.⁴ These categories are also sequentially determined in that each one is analyzed before the next. This order determines how we attributed explanatory power if there was overlap between categories. See Appendix Table A.2 for a full list of variables included in each factor category that were considered for this analysis.

³ This approach enabled us to focus on youth and to limit the potential for reverse causality, which could be a risk if we considered factors likely to be impacted by milestone completion. Reverse causality could happen if completion of milestones could have a direct impact on factors considered.

⁴ See, for example, the following studies. Demographic characteristics: Fryer et al. 2013; Lang and Spitzer 2020; Blau and Kahn 2017. Parent and family characteristics: Sacerdote 2007; Black and Devereux 2011. Environmental characteristics: Chetty et al. 2016; Chetty and Hendren 2018. Childhood experiences: Bauer and Schanzenbach 2016; Metzler et al. 2017. Cognitive ability: Heckman et al. 2006; Zax and Rees 2002. Adolescent characteristics, behaviors, and relationships: French et al. 2015; Lleras 2008.

1		Demographics	Year of birth (age), gender, race/ethnicity
2	1	Parent and family characteristics	For example, parental education, parent race, household financial characteristics
3		Environmental characteristics	For example, urban/rural area, environmental risk indices, peer characteristics
4	î.	Childhood characteristics and experiences	For example, school characteristics, childhood experiences, family routines
5	r	Cognitive ability measured at adolescence	ASVAB score, SAT score, ACT score
6	*	Adolescent characteristics, behaviors, and relationships	For example, drug and alcohol use, criminal behavior, sexual behavior

Figure 2. Categories of individual characteristics defined by age 18, using NLSY97

Note: See Appendix Table A.2 for a full list of variables that were analyzed and their categorizations.

ASVAB = Armed Services Vocational Aptitude Battery; NLSY97 = National Longitudinal Survey of Youth, 1997 Cohort.

Factors identified in the qualitative analysis

To identify factors provided through the qualitative interviews, we categorized all responses related to achieving an individual milestone and economic self-sufficiency into eight main themes:

- Personal. Personal finances, values, abilities, health, and education
- Partner/spouse. Partner/spouse finances, emotional support, values, health, and job
- **Family.** Financial support from family, emotional support from family, family health, family values, and support for childcare and caregiving
- Friends. Financial support from friends, emotional support from friends, and friends' values
- Economic conditions. Inflation, job market, housing market, and government policies
- Job. Earnings and employment history
- Religion. Religious beliefs and expectations around marriage and faith

Because qualitative interviews took place after the onset of COVID-19, our interview protocol included questions on the impacts of COVID-19 on participants' employment and living arrangements. COVID-19 also appeared frequently in participants' responses to other interview questions, even without prompting. To better understand how COVID-19 influenced the achievement of success sequence milestones and economic outcomes and to potentially tease out these impacts, we categorized and coded all responses related to COVID-19 as a separate theme.

C. What explains individual milestone completion and success sequence?

In this section, we discuss our findings on who follows a success sequence pathway and address our first research question on what factors are associated with the completion of the success sequence and its milestones. Our earlier report (Inanc et al. 2021) showed that youth take different pathways to adulthood, with the likelihood of following the success sequence varying by parental education, gender, and race and ethnicity. Here, we explore what additional factors might explain the pathways that youth take. These results can help explain not only why people take different pathways, but also help us start to understand the relationship between the success sequence and economic self-sufficiency.

Our earlier report also found that the completion of individual milestones, regardless of the combination or order in which they are completed, accounted for most of the relationship between the success sequence and economic self-sufficiency. Therefore, we begin by presenting our results on the factors associated with completion of individual milestones. We then focus on the order of completion of the milestones and present findings on the factors and circumstances associated with following a success sequence pathway.

Findings on individual milestones

Our results highlight the importance of parents and family in shaping individual milestone completion. Our quantitative analysis shows that, across the four milestones, parent and family characteristics was the most important category for high school completion, employment, and childbearing (Figure 3). However, as we describe in the following sections, the ways that parents and family influence individuals vary across milestones. For example, although a stable home environment is one of the most important factors enabling high school completion, family values are more important for completion of the marriage milestone. While the most important category for three of the four milestones is parent and family characteristics, this category explained a larger share of the variance in high school completion than any other factor categories, suggesting that family plays a particularly influential role for high school completion compared to the other milestones.

Figure 3. Factors associated with completing individual success sequence milestones



Source: National Longitudinal Survey of Youth, 1997 Cohort.

Note: The percentages for factor categories indicate the share of the total variance in outcomes that can be explained by each factor category after accounting for the previous categories. See Appendix A for details on the methods, and Appendix Table B.3 for full regression results.



Interpreting the share of variance explained

We present our quantitative results as the share of variance explained by each factor. In statistics, we refer to the variance of an outcome to describe how much that variable changes between people (or observations). In practical terms, this means how different the outcomes would be if we randomly

picked two individuals. For example, in the NLSY97 data, we find that 89 percent of people complete the employment milestone, but only 53 percent complete the marriage milestone. We say that there is more variance in the marriage milestone because it is more likely that if we choose two individuals at random, one would have completed the marriage milestone and one would not have. In technical terms, we define variance as the standard deviation squared.

For this analysis, we were interested in what share of the variance in outcomes can be explained by the factors in our study. We estimate this by saying, if we randomly picked people who are exactly the same (just looking at our factors), what are the chances that one person has completed the milestone and one has not? We compare this to the variance across everyone in the sample. The share of the variance that goes away when we just look at two people who are the same is considered to be the variance that is explained by our factors. Statistically, this is referred to as the R-squared.

Adolescent characteristics, behaviors, and relationships was also an important category across all milestones, explaining the second largest share of the variance. As we describe for each milestone in the following sections, this finding was consistent with qualitative findings from interviews. Youth described many ways that their adolescent experiences shaped their milestone completion, such as substance abuse, mental health, and the formation of value systems.

Our results highlight differences in the amount of variance we can explain in milestone completion with the individual characteristics observed in our quantitative analysis. We explain 53 percent of the variance in who graduates high school with our six categories of factors, relative to only 11 percent of the variance

in who marries. Across all four milestones, there is still a large share of variance which is not explained by any of our factors. This highlights the degree to which the variance in whether someone completes each milestone is driven by factors that we do not capture with our data and likely by factors that are determined after age 18. We used data from our interviews to inform what factors are likely missed by the quantitative data and how trajectories may evolve as youth transition to adulthood, which we discuss below for each individual milestone.

High school completion

Both our quantitative and qualitative findings indicate that young adults recognize the importance of education and completing high school. Eighty-three percent of our NLSY97 sample had completed high school and 96 percent of the participants of the qualitative study had completed high school. Our qualitative interview respondents generally said they considered high school completion "the default". They also emphasized the importance of families in creating a safe home environment that enabled the student to succeed in their studies.

Conversely, among the interview respondents who were unable to complete high school, the most common barriers cited were an unsafe or unstable family life. As exemplified in the qualitative interview quotes (right sidebar), challenges included instances of domestic violence in the home and substance abuse. Respondents also described challenges in high school related to cognitive ability, such as difficulty understanding the requirements to graduate or in completing the courses. These responses were consistent with findings from our quantitative analysis, which showed that parents and family, adolescent characteristics, and cognitive ability were

"Honestly I stayed home [from school] because my mom was in an abusive relationship and felt like I needed to stay home to able to call for help/protect her."

"[I faced] a range of barriers. Home life, peer pressure into taking substances I had no business doing. Being raised by a single father who struggled to make ends meet while suffering from epilepsy since he was a child. Worrying, stress, toxic home environment while visiting our mom."

the three most important categories of factors in explaining who completed high school.

Employment

Employment is the most frequently completed milestone, with 89 percent of the quantitative sample and 97 percent of the qualitative sample having held full-time employment at some point (by the age of 30 in our quantitative sample, and by ages 30 to 35 in our qualitative sample). In interviews, respondents described how they valued employment, because it enabled them to become economically self-sufficient and they found personal meaning in a career. For example, a participant said, "I was working as a tutor for an afterschool program and loved working with students. I knew I wanted to do more than teach so I decided to pursue a career as a school psychologist. It was important to me to do both." These values around employment may have been shaped by parents, family, and adolescent experiences—the two categories of factors which best explained employment in the quantitative sample.

Among those who did not complete the employment milestone, most described wanting to get a job but facing barriers. In interviews, the few respondents who had not reached this milestone described some of the barriers which emerged in adulthood that prevented them from gaining employment. These barriers included childcare demands, and physical health and mental health struggles (as exemplified in the quotes on the right sidebar). Consistent with the interview findings on emerging adulthood barriers, the quantitative findings demonstrate that only 17 percent of variance in the employment milestone can be explain by our factors,

"It is harder for me to work with a small child who is not enrolled in school."

"I am fully disabled. I have a medical condition called Spina Bifida that prevents me from working"

"I suffered from postpartum depression after having my second child in November 2019. That, coupled with the pandemic, made it difficult for me to find work."

which are all defined in youth. Because so much of the variance is left unexplained, this suggests that there are other factors not captured in our qualitative and quantitative data related to this milestone.

Marriage

Completion of the marriage milestone was lower than the education and employment milestones in our study. Slightly over half of our sample (53 percent in the NLSY97 data and 50 percent in the qualitative interviews) was married (or had been married). In interviews, some individuals described their decision to marry as consistent with their values and vision of relationships, ranging from deep love for their partner to the "logical next step." In contrast, other interview respondents said they did not place a high value on

marriage (as depicted in the quotes in the sidebar on the right). However, most of the respondents who were not married at the time of the interview were open to marriage in the future but had not found the right person. Some respondents also considered finances in their decision to marry, with individuals reporting that marriage was either financially beneficial or detrimental, depending on circumstances.

Quantitative data show that the most difficult milestone to predict with our factor categories is

"We had matching values, morals, similar ideas on goals and ambitions as well as what we wanted in a family of our own."

"I don't value the concept of marriage. It feels like a lot of pomp and circumstance. I don't need a piece of paper or a witness to prove my love. 'Let's just be.'"

who does and does not marry by age 30. Only 11 percent of the variance in who did and did not get married can be explained by the six categories of factors. The limited ability of the factors in the quantitative analysis to explain who was married by age 30 shows the importance of factors that we could not quantify or measure in our analyses. Some potential factors that we were unable to account for may relate to factors and circumstances that can be measured later in adulthood, or unobservable factors in the NLSY97 data that predict future partnership outcomes, such as participants' expectations and desires around marriage (Waller and McLanahan 2005), and personal traits (French et al 2014). Of the categories of factors in the quantitative analyses, the strongest predictor of marriage was demographics. This reflects differences across race and ethnicity and the fact that men tend to marry later. Previous research suggests that these differences in marriage rates by race and ethnicity are rooted in systemic and structural inequalities such as exclusion from marriage markets (Harris Ono, 2005; South Crowder 1999) or, historical inequality in the rights to and from marriage by race (Lenhardt 2015). Unlike the other three milestones, parent and family characteristics had only a limited association with marriage.

Childbearing

Childbearing was also less common in our sample than education and employment milestones; 58 percent of individuals in our quantitative sample and 49 percent of interview participants had a child. Our six categories can explain some (18 percent) of the variance in who does and does not complete this milestone, suggesting the need to look beyond these categories. The low share of variance explained is partially due to the fact that we measured childbearing at age 30, and, therefore, it is possible that additional members of our sample who have not had a child may go on to have children⁵. Unobservable characteristics may influence a person's ability to have children (for example, fertility, overall health, finances, and family support), when they plan to have children (for example, career aspirations), and whether they want children at all (for example, desire to be a parent). Similar to education and employment, parent and family characteristics have the strongest role

in explaining who did and did not complete this milestone.

Results from interviews revealed different experiences among respondents who were parents, depending on whether childbearing was planned. Participants who had a planned child described making the decision based on their desire to have children, their values, and the importance of feeling financially stable (as exemplified in the first quote in the sidebar on the right). These results are consistent with the strong impact of parent and family characteristics—which likely impact values and financial stability. In contrast to planned childbearing, participants broadly described unplanned childbearing as something that they experienced, often characterizing it as somewhat out of their control. These respondents often reported feeling financially or emotionally unprepared. Among those who chose to not have a child, respondents similarly referenced personal desires and lack of financial stability as reasons for not having a child (as exemplified in the second quote in the sidebar on the right).

Findings on the order of milestone completion

"I was working, my ex was working. During that time I really wanted children. I felt ready because our combined income was more than enough for a small family of three."

"I don't want to be responsible for another human life. The world is overpopulated. State of the world is not great. Loss of freedom. Financial responsibility. Being pregnant/giving birth sounds horrifying."

A key feature of the success sequence model is its emphasis on the importance of completing milestones in a specific order, with childbearing happening only after graduating high school, gaining full-time employment, and marriage. In this section, we therefore focus on understanding the factors that explain who follows a success sequence pathway, either by completing all four milestones in the prescribed order

⁵ The participants in this study have yet to reach what is known as completed fertility (age 15–44 years); therefore, many participants may go on to have children. In addition, the mean age for mothers has increased over the last decades— for example, the average woman gave birth for the first time at age 25.6 in 2011 and 27.3 in 2021 (Osterman et al. 2023).

or by being on track to do so. Despite often being viewed as the desired path by interview respondents, less than half of our quantitative sample (43 percent) and half (50 percent) of our qualitative sample followed a success sequence pathway.

The factors that explain who follows a success sequence pathway were similar to those that explain individual milestones. As displayed in Figure 4, our quantitative analysis shows that parents and family, followed by adolescent characteristics, behaviors, and relationships, were again the two categories of factors that explained most of the variance in who did and did not follow a success sequence pathway. Like with individual milestones, most of the variance in who does and does not follow the success sequence (76 percent) is not explained by our categories of factors. This additional variance may be explained by factors that developed after adolescence, such as pursuing additional education, experiencing health challenges, or employment experiences, as suggested by the qualitative interviews.

Figure 4. Factors associated with following a success sequence pathway



Source: National Longitudinal Survey of Youth, 1997 Cohort.

Note: The percentages for factor categories indicate the share of the total variance in following a success sequence pathway that can be explained by each factor category after accounting for the previous categories. See Appendix A for details on the methods and Appendix Table B.3 for full regression results.

In interviews, most participants reported they planned to follow a success sequence pathway, but only some were able to do so. Those who did follow a success sequence pathway often described the importance of their values in doing so. Some referred to the order of milestones as the "traditional route" and expressed a desire to follow it as a result (as exemplified in the sidebar on the right). Many expressed a desire to be married before having children or to be financially stable before being married. These values were likely impacted strongly by parents and family and by adolescent experiences, as participants also

"We knew we wanted to be together and start a family. It was important to us and our families to take the 'traditional' route."

"I wanted to go to a trade school ... I just needed my mom to fill out the paperwork for the financial part. She just said NO! So remember 10 years from now if my life is screwed up, you could have helped me succeed in life. So after that heartbreaking experience I kinda didn't have it in me to try again (to find employment) plus I started having children."

mentioned their parents or upbringing in reference to their defined values around completing milestones in a "prescribed order." Respondents who did not follow a success sequence pathway also described having originally planned to do so. However, many of these respondents encountered barriers to completing the success sequence that they had not anticipated, such as lack of parental support and health problems. In particular, respondents indicated that family support was crucial in allowing participants to complete high school before obtaining full-time employment, as exemplified in the quote (upper right sidebar).

D. What explains who becomes economically self-sufficient?

As discussed in our 2021 report (Inanc et al. 2021), young adults who adhered to the success sequence had a high chance of economic sufficiency; however, not everyone who followed the success sequence achieved economic self-sufficiency. Similarly, there were other pathways that do not align with the prescribed sequence that were associated with economic self-sufficiency. In fact, in this present mixed-method analysis, we observed that among those who did follow a success sequence pathway, nearly one-third (27 percent) of our NLSY97 sample and one-fifth (21 percent) of our interview participants did not achieve economic self-sufficiency, defined as reaching middle-class status. Conversely, among those who did not follow a success sequence pathway, 42 percent of our NLSY97 sample and 27 percent of the qualitative sample achieved economic self-sufficiency (Figure 5). In this section, we analyze the factors that explain why some individuals struggle achieving economic self-sufficiency and how others forge alternative paths towards economic self-sufficiency.

Figure 5. Rates of economic self-sufficiency by whether respondents followed a success sequence pathway (percentages)



Source: NLSY97 = National Longitudinal Survey of Youth, 1997 Cohort (NLSY97).

Note: Economic self-sufficiency is measured as middle-income status, defined as being 300% above the federal poverty level.

Our quantitative analysis shows that much of the variance in economic self-sufficiency outcomes cannot be explained by the individual characteristics observed in our data. Combined, the six categories of factors only explain 15 percent of the variance in who achieves economic self-sufficiency among those who follow the success sequence and 14 percent among those who do not (Figure 6). Within the share that is explained, the factors explaining economic self-sufficiency and the factors explaining milestone completion are remarkably similar for individuals who do and do not follow the success sequence: parent and family characteristics play the largest role. The relatively low share of explained variance suggests that much of what influences whether or not individuals achieve economic self-sufficiency can be explained by unobserved characteristics such as motivation and drive or structural inequalities in the labor market, or by factors and circumstances encountered later in life or are not measured in the data for earlier in life, which we explore in our qualitative interviews.

Figure 6. Factors associated with economic self-sufficiency

a. Participants who followed a success sequence pathway



Source: National Longitudinal Survey of Youth, 1997 Cohort.

Note: The percentages for factor categories indicate the share of the total variance in achieving middle-class status among those who *followed* (panel a) and *did not follow* (panel b) a success sequence pathway that can be explained by each factor category after accounting for the previous categories. See Appendix A for details on the methods, Appendix Figure B.3 for results using non-poverty status, and Appendix Table B.4 for full regression results.

Barriers to economic self-sufficiency among those who followed a success sequence pathway

Among qualitative interview participants who followed a success sequence pathway, low-paying jobs and poor economic conditions in the country were cited as preventing them from achieving economic self-sufficiency.⁶ Many participants in this group worked full-time at the time of the interview (and had completed the full-time employment milestone), but their current job did not pay enough to grant them a middle-class lifestyle. For example, a participant who makes a living by driving for Door Dash and Instacart while supporting his wife said, "My total monthly income is not enough to pay bills and other expenses while still having money left over to save." Another common factor was the high cost of living due to the economic conditions at the time of the interview, the summer of 2022. Participants reported cuts in their work hours, the rising cost of essentials, and the inability to save due to the COVID-19 pandemic (discussed further below).

Others in this group referenced barriers to employment and lack of affordable childcare as contributors to their inability to achieve economic self-sufficiency. Some participants described how mental and physical health problems prevented them from obtaining or keeping full-time employment, which, in turn, negatively influenced their economic well-being. Participants with young children mentioned the high cost of and lack of affordable childcare as a barrier to economic self-sufficiency.

⁶ For participants who did not follow the success sequence model, their barriers to economic self-sufficiency were similar to the barriers of those who did follow the success sequence model.

Facilitators of economic self-sufficiency among those who did not follow a success sequence pathway

Among individuals who *did not* complete the success sequence, support from family was a frequently mentioned facilitator of their economic self-sufficiency. Consistent with our findings from the quantitative analysis (Figure 6), many interview participants in this group described finding their current employment, and therefore income, through connections, emphasizing the importance of family and social networks. Others emphasized that it was their families that primarily helped them either by assisting regularly with monthly expenses (such as childcare, household items, and bills) or living with them and splitting expenses (such as rent, utilities, and other living costs).

Other interview participants credited their economic self-sufficiency, despite not having followed a success sequence pathway, to having a high-paying job. The paths that this subsample took to well-paying jobs were highly varied. Some participants relied on college degrees to land well-paying jobs, and other participants managed their own businesses or worked as skilled tradespeople. Interview respondents also described achieving high wages by working their way up from low-paying entry level jobs. Others described just getting lucky in finding a well-paid job.⁷

The differential effects of the pandemic on economic self-sufficiency

Because the qualitative interviews took place during the summer of 2022, COVID-19 appeared as a common theme in participants' responses around economic self-sufficiency.

Among the subsample who followed the success sequence but did not achieve middle-class status, COVID-19 was often mentioned as a barrier to financial stability. The subsample noted COVID-19 most frequently in the context of limited work opportunities, price increases due to the pandemic, and the inability to save during the pandemic. Many said that their wages decreased during the pandemic in response to pay cuts or a reduction in hours. A participant said, "My husband lost his job and my hours were cut at my workplace." Another participant said, "When places of worship closed, I wasn't paid to lead services at my student pulpit congregation. This lack of steady income meant I sometimes had to draw on my own savings and couldn't add to it during this time." Many participants directly linked pandemic inflation and price increases to their difficulties with financial stability.

Among participants who followed the success sequence and attained middle-class status, COVID-19 was mentioned as a positive factor in their financial stability. The pandemic's positive effect reflected an increased ability to save in a climate of reduced discretional spending and an increased demand for certain types of work. A participant said, "The pandemic helped us save a lot of money. We carried those habits with us until now. We were not able to do that before." Others found that their businesses did better during the pandemic, especially those that benefited from the move to remote work. Another participant said, "Yes I work in IT so I had more opportunities as everyone tried to work from home."

⁷ Participants who did follow a success sequence pathway and achieved economic self-sufficiency reported that their ability to budget and manage their money, along with a high-paying job contributed to their economic self-sufficiency. These participants did report lower levels of support from families than those who reached middle class status and did not follow the success sequence model.

E. Discussion

As shown in our earlier study (Inanc et al. 2021), adolescents take diverse pathways in their transitions to adulthood, and not all of these pathways align with the success sequence model. In this new mixedmethod study, we investigated why some complete success sequence milestones and adhere to the success sequence and others do not. Although the issue of who does and does not complete each milestone and who achieves the success sequence is complex and was not fully explained by the factors in our data, we found that parents and family play an important role in influencing milestone completion, along with following the order of the success sequence. Parents and family shaped young adults' pathways by providing a safe home environment, economic resources, access to networks, and influencing their values. However, we identified other factors such as adolescent experiences, physical health, mental health struggles, and childcare demands that influenced youth and young adults as they traveled the success sequence pathways.

Our earlier study also found that adherence to the success sequence and economic self-sufficiency in adulthood is not a one-to-one relationship. Some people followed a success sequence pathway and did not achieve economic self-sufficiency, and yet some did follow the success sequence and achieved economic self-sufficiency. In the present mixed-methods study, we extended these findings by investigating the factors and circumstances associated with economic self-sufficiency among people who took similar pathways. Among those who followed a success sequence pathway, low-paying jobs and poor economic conditions in the country, as well as individual barriers to employment and lack of affordable childcare, were commonly cited reasons that prevented them from achieving economic self-sufficiency. Among those who *did not* complete the success sequence, support from parents and family was an important factor for achieving economic self-sufficiency, either by providing financial support or access to networks, indicating the lack of intergenerational economic mobility. Another important factor was landing a well-paying job, which participants achieved through continuous education, hard work, and luck.

Limitations of the study

One limitation of our study is that factors, decisions, and circumstances surrounding completion of milestones in the success sequence were multi-faceted and not fully captured in any one complete dataset. The NLSY97 survey is a rich, longitudinal data source, but it does not include an exhaustive number of variables on individuals and their circumstances. For example, variables related to personality or neighborhood characteristics are not comprehensively included in the dataset, and other survey items are only proxies for factors of interest. For example, scores on standardized tests are only a proxy for cognitive ability. Therefore, the quantitative analysis cannot explain the total share of the variance in an outcome. In contrast, our interview data relies on many open-ended questions and could have been potentially unlimited in the topics that it covered. However, the interview protocol did not include questions on areas that may influence outcomes, such as personality. Moreover, responses were filtered through the respondents' perspectives and may have been influenced by their subjectivity, interpretation of the questions, and their ability to accurately recall the circumstances concerning their milestones. In addition, our qualitative sample is more highly educated than the norm and may therefore not be representative of the U.S. population.

Another study limitation is that the findings may not be fully applicable to younger adults, since our NLSY97 sample was born in 1980–1984 and our qualitative sample was born in 1987–1992. It was important to examine participants born between the early 1980s and 1990s to allow participants enough time to complete milestones, as selecting a younger cohort would mean a lower likelihood of achieving the milestones. However, we cannot say if our findings generalize to people born after 1984 (for the quantitative analysis) or after 1992 (for the qualitative analysis). This is important, in part, because the timing and rates of milestone completion have changed over time. For example, the average age at marriage and childbearing has increased over the last couple of decades, and increasingly more young adults form cohabiting partnerships before, or instead of, marriage. The specific sequence of milestone completion and their timing, as well as factors associated with them, will likely differ among adults younger than those included in our analyses.

Finally, it is important to consider the timing of milestone measurement when interpreting results of the study-- through age 30 in NLSY97 and ages 30–35 in qualitative interviews—the ages during which many young adults are still completing milestones. In particular, many individuals in our study did not complete marriage or childbearing milestones but may do so later in life. In some cases, the factors may be predicting when an individual completes the milestones, rather than whether they actually will. Similarly, economic self-sufficiency was measured at different periods—in 2017–2018 in the NLSY97 analysis and in the summer of 2022 in the qualitative analysis. Because the qualitative interviews were conducted when the social and economic impacts of COVID-19 were prevalent, participants' responses about their milestone completion and economic self-sufficiency could also reflect the COVID-19 context.

Practical implications

Policy approaches influenced by the success sequence theory emphasizes educational programming and public awareness campaigns that teach youth about the importance of following specific milestones in a particular order to achieve economic self-sufficiency. For example, the federally funded Sexual Risk Avoidance Education Program requires grantees to teach youth the benefits associated with success sequence as a poverty prevention approach, by focusing on how the order of school, jobs, relationships, and childbearing can impact their future. Findings from our earlier report showed that the completion of the education, employment, and marriage milestones are more important for achieving economic self-sufficiency than the specific ordering of the four milestones. Moreover, findings from our qualitative analysis suggest that many young adults plan to complete success sequence milestones and intend to do so in the prescribed order. However, our data suggest that they may not have the supports needed to do so, or many of them may face external barriers, such as lack of a supportive home environment or chronic health conditions, that are out of their hands. Curriculum developers and program providers should acknowledge that communication about the success sequence and its association with economic self-sufficiency may not be sufficient for youth to follow it. Programming should also focus on supporting youth facing external barriers to achieving the success sequence.

In addition, given our findings in Inanc et al. 2021 and this follow-up study on the diversity of pathways adolescents take in the transition to adulthood, curriculum developers and program providers must account for the likelihood that some program participants are already on a pathway that does not align with the success sequence. Examples include participants that obtained full-time employment before finishing high school or became parents at a young age. Accounting for the diversity of pathways is

important to ensure that messaging around the success sequence does not unintentionally discourage these participants from completing high school, obtaining employment, or getting married. It is also important to ensure messaging does not alienate program participants who might already be completing the milestones out of order from feeling as though the curriculum is not relevant to them. Although encouraging youth to think carefully about these milestones and the importance of their sequence is beneficial, our findings suggest programs should also teach youth that the success sequence is not the only pathway to economic self-sufficiency. As shown in our previous report (Inanc et al. 2021), graduating from high-school, full-time employment, and marriage are important milestones toward economic selfsufficiency, regardless of the order in which they are achieved.

References

- Anglim, J., and S.L. Grant. "Incremental Criterion Prediction of Personality Facets over Factors: Obtaining Unbiased Estimates and Confidence Intervals." *Journal of Research in Personality*, vol. 53, 2014, pp. 148–157.
- Bauer, L., and D.W. Schanzenbach. "The Long-Term Impact of the Head Start Program." The Hamilton Project, 2016.
- Black, S.E., and P.J. Devereux. "Recent Developments in Intergenerational Mobility." *Handbook of Labor Economics*, vol. 4, 2011, pp. 1487–1541.
- Blau, F.D., and L.M. Kahn. "The Gender Wage Gap: Extent, Trends, and Explanations." *Journal of Economic Literature*, vol. 55, no. 3, 2017, pp. 789–865.
- Creswell, J.W., V.L. Plano Clark, M. Gutmann, and W. Hanson. "Advanced Mixed Methods Research Designs." In *Handbook on Mixed Methods in the Behavioral and Social Sciences*, edited by A. Tashakkori and C. Teddlie, pp. 209–240. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage, 2003.
- Chetty, R., and N. Hendren. "The Impacts of Neighborhoods on Intergenerational Mobility I: Childhood Exposure Effects." *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, vol. 133, no. 3, 2018, pp. 1107–1162.
- Chetty, R., N. Hendren, and L.F. Katz. "The Effects of Exposure to Better Neighborhoods on Children: New Evidence from the Moving to Opportunity Experiment." *American Economic Review*, vol. 106, no. 4, 2016, pp. 855–902.
- Ewert, S. "What It's Worth: Field of Training and Economic Status in 2009." U.S. Census Bureau Current Population Reports. Report Number P70-129. U.S. Bureau of the Census, February 2012.
- Family & Youth Services Bureau (FYSB). "Sexual Risk Avoidance Education—General Departmental Program." Adolescent Pregnancy Prevention Fact Sheet. Administration for Children and Families, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, April 2020.
- French, M.T., J.F. Homer, I. Popovici, and P.K. Robins. "What You Do in High School Matters: High School GPA, Educational Attainment, and Labor Market Earnings as a Young Adult." *Eastern Economic Journal*, vol. 41, 2015, pp. 370–386.
- French M.T., I. Popovici I, P.K. Robins, and J.F. Homer. "Personal traits, cohabitation, and marriage." *Social Science Research*, vol. 45, 2014, pp. 184-99.
- Fryer, R.G., D. Pager, and J.L. Spenkuch. "Racial Disparities in Job Finding and Offered Wages." *The Journal of Law and Economics*, vol. 56, no. 3, 2013, pp. 633–689.
- Gale, N.K., G. Heath, E. Cameron, S. Rashid, and S. Redwood. "Using the Framework Method for the Analysis of Qualitative Data in Multi-Disciplinary Health Research." *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, vol. 13, no. 117, 2013. doi.org/10.1186/1471-2288-13-117
- Ghani, I.M.M., and S. Ahmad. "Stepwise Multiple Regression Method to Forecast Fish Landing." *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, vol. 8, 2010, pp. 549–554.
- Goesling, B., H. Inanc, and A. Rachidi. "Success Sequence: A Synthesis of the Literature." OPRE Report #2020-41. Office of Planning, Research, and Evaluation, Administration for Children and Families, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2020.
- Harris, D. R., and H. Ono. "How Many Interracial Marriages Would There Be if All Groups Were of Equal Size in All Places? A New Look at National Estimates of Interracial Marriage." *Social Science Research*, vol. 34, 2005, pp. 236-251.

- Haskins, R., and I.V. Sawhill. "Work and Marriage: The Way to End Poverty and Welfare." Washington, DC: Brookings Institution Press, 2003.
- Haskins, R., and I.V. Sawhill. Creating an Opportunity Society. Brookings Institution Press, 2009.
- Heckman, J.J., J. Stixrud, and S. Urzua. "The Effects of Cognitive and Noncognitive Abilities on Labor Market Outcomes and Social Behavior." *Journal of Labor Economics*, vol. 24, no. 3, 2006, pp. 411–482.
- Humes, P., M. Mosack, C. Huber, and S. Vaughan. "Sexual Risk Avoidance Education (SRAE) Tip Sheet. The Success Sequence: Giving Youth a Roadmap to Optimal Health." Oklahoma City, OK: Public Strategies, June 2020.
- Inanc, H., A. Spitzer, and B. Goesling. "Assessing the Benefits of the Success Sequence for Economic Self-Sufficiency and Family Stability." OPRE Report #2021-41. Office of Planning, Research, and Evaluation, Administration for Children and Families, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2021.
- Ivankova, N.V., J.W. Creswell, and S.L. Stick. "Using Mixed-Methods Sequential Explanatory Design: From Theory to Practice." *Field Methods*, vol. 18, no. 1 2006, pp. 3–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822X05282260.</u>
- Lang, K., and A.K.L. Spitzer. "Race Discrimination: An Economic Perspective." Journal of Economic Perspectives, vol. 34, no. 2, 2020, pp. 68–89.
- Lenhardt, R.A. "Marriage as Black citizenship." Hastings Law Journal, vol. 66, 2015, pp. 1317–1364.
- Lleras, C. "Do Skills and Behaviors in High School Matter? The Contribution of Noncognitive Factors in Explaining Differences in Educational Attainment and Earnings." *Social Science Research*, vol. 37, no. 3, 2008, pp. 888–902.
- Metzler, M., M.T. Merrick, J. Klevens, K.A. Ports, and D.C. Ford. "Adverse Childhood Experiences and Life Opportunities: Shifting the Narrative." *Children and Youth Services Review*, vol. 72, 2017, pp. 141–149.
- Osterman, M.J.K., B.E. Hamilton, J.A. Martin, A.K. Driscoll, and C.P. Valenzuela. "Births: Final Data for 2021." *National Vital Statistics Reports*, vol. 72, no 1. National Center for Health Statistics, 2023. DOI: https://dx.doi. org/10.15620/cdc:122047.
- Sacerdote, B. "How Large Are the Effects from Changes in Family Environment? A Study of Korean American Adoptees." *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, vol. 122, no. 1, 2007, pp. 119–157.
- South, S.J., and K.D. Crowder. "Neighborhood effects on family formation: Concentrated poverty and beyond." *American Sociological Review*, vol. 64, 1999, pp. 113–132.
- South, S. J., and K.D. Crowder. "Neighborhood Effects on Family Formation: Concentrated Poverty and Beyond." *American Sociological Review*, vol. 64, 1999, pp. 113–132.
- United States Census Bureau. "Table 1. Educational Attainment of the Population 18 Years and Over, by Age, Sex, Race, and Hispanic Origin: 2021." Educational Attainment in the United States: 2021. February 24, 2022. <u>https://www.census.gov/data/tables/2021/demo/educational-attainment/cps-detailed-tables.html</u>. Accessed on June 30, 2023.
- Waller, M. R., and S. S. McLanahan, S. S. ""His" and "her" marriage expectations: Determinants and consequences." *Journal of Marriage and Family*, vol. 67, no. 1, 2005, pp. 53-67.
- Wilcox, W.B., and W. Wang. "The Millennial Success Sequence: Marriage, Kids, and the Success Sequence of Young Adults." Washington, DC: American Enterprise Institute and the Institute for Family Studies, 2017.

Zax, J.S., and D.I. Rees. "IQ, Academic Performance, Environment, and Earnings." *Review of Economics and Statistics*, vol. 84, no. 4, 2002, pp. 600–616.

This page has been left blank for double-sided copying.
Appendix A

Data and Methods

This page has been left blank for double-sided copying.

This appendix summarizes the analysis methods for both the quantitative analysis on the factors associated with youth pathways to adulthood and economic self-sufficiency and the qualitative data collection approach, including recruitment, interview topics, and the analysis of 225 participant interviews. The first section describes the quantitative approach, including data sources used, our approach to defining and grouping pathways that youth take to adulthood, our approach to identifying and categorizing factors that were considered in this analysis, the methods we used to examine the extent to which each factor can explain outcomes, and additional information on interpreting the share of variance explained. The second section describes the qualitative approach, including the recruitment approach and targets for qualitative interviews; data collection strategy; topics covered during interviews; data analysis approach for the qualitative interviews; coding schema and milestone definitions; and methods used to determine milestone completion and economic self-sufficiency.

A.1. Quantitative Analysis

Data

The primary analyses in this report are based on data from the National Longitudinal Survey of Youth 1997 (NLSY97). The NLSY97 is the latest survey within the National Longitudinal Surveys, sponsored by the Bureau of Labor Statistics, U.S. Department of Labor. The first round of the NLSY97 was conducted in 1997, with a nationally representative sample of nearly 9,000 individuals who were born between 1980 and 1984. The respondents were ages 12 to 18 at the time of their first interview. Respondents were interviewed each year from 1997 to 2011 and biannually since 2011. Round 18, the latest round of the survey, was conducted in 2017 and 2018 when respondents were ages 32 to 38 (Table A.1) and included approximately 6,700 of the Round 1 participants. Black and Hispanic adolescents were oversampled for the survey to ensure the sample size was sufficient to produce reliable estimates for those respondent groups.

The NLSY97 collects detailed information on labor market behavior and education outcomes. It also includes questions related to household characteristics, parents, family processes, childhood, dating, marriage, cohabitation, income, assets, program participation, health conditions, attitudes, and crime and substance use.

			Sample				
Round	Year	Ages	size	Round	Year	Ages	Sample size
Round 1	1997–1998	12–18	8,984	Round 10	2006–2007	21–27	7,559
Round 2	1998–1999	13–19	8,386	Round 11	2007–2008	22–28	7,418
Round 3	1999–2000	14–20	8,208	Round 12	2008–2009	23–29	7,490
Round 4	2000–2001	15–21	8,080	Round 13	2009–2010	24–30	7,559
Round 5	2001–2002	16–22	7,882	Round 14	2010–2011	25–31	7,479
Round 6	2002–2003	17–23	7,896	Round 15	2011–2012	26–32	7,423
Round 7	2003–2004	18–24	7,754	Round 16	2013–2014	28–34	7,140
Round 8	2004–2005	19–25	7,502	Round 17	2015–2016	30–36	7,103
Round 9	2005–2006	20–26	7,338	Round 18	2017–2018	32–38	6,734

Table A.1. Description of the available NLSY97 rounds

Source: National Longitudinal Survey of Youth, 1997 Cohort.

Our primary analyses relied on the sample of NLSY97 respondents who were at least age 30 at the time of their final interview. To account for sample selection and attrition, we used survey-provided sample weights in all analyses. In particular, we created sample weights for this study by assigning each individual the cross-sectional sample weights associated with the first wave in which they were at least age 30.

Pathways to adulthood

Milestone completion

We used the NLSY97 to assess the proportion of young adults who had completed high school, had a fulltime job, gotten married, and had children. We measured this proportion using all waves of data for each individual through age 30. We chose the primary definitions for each milestone to match most closely the definitions used in previous research on the success sequence. We defined each milestone as follows:

- **High school completion**: We defined respondents as having completed this milestone if they reported having obtained a high school diploma. We measured the timing of milestone completion as the date (that is, month and year) of degree receipt. We did not consider attaining a GED certificate as high school completion. We excluded GED receipt from our primary definition of this milestone because GED recipients tend to have different outcomes than people who receive high school diplomas (Ewert 2012).
- **Full-time employment**: We defined respondents as having completed this milestone if they reported having worked at least 35 hours per week for at least 40 weeks in any given 52-week period by age 30. This estimation was drawn from the weekly employment arrays in the NLSY data, which list the number of hours an individual worked in each week of the entire follow-up period. In assessing this criterion, we accounted for all jobs reported within a 52-week period (that is, if someone worked 30 hours at one job and 10 hours at another, they would still be counted as working more than 35 hours per week). We measured the timing of milestone completion as the first week of employment for which the following 52-week period met this criterion.
- **Marriage**: We defined respondents as having completed this milestone if they reported having gotten married at any time by age 30. We measured the timing of milestone completion as the date (that is, month and year) of a respondent's first marriage.
- **Childbearing:** We defined respondents as having completed this milestone if they reported having any biological children by age 30. We measured the timing of milestone completion as the birth date (that is, month and year) of the respondent's first biological child.

Pathways that follow the order of the success sequence model

We characterized pathways as being consistent with the success sequence if the individual either completed all four milestones or were on track to do so. This includes the sequence of four milestones that follow the success sequence order (that is, high school completion, full-time employment, marriage, and childbearing, in that order), as well as the two sequences that represent following the order of the success sequence without completing all the milestones (that is, only high school completion and full-

time employment, and only high school completion, full-time employment, and marriage).⁸

Individual factors defined in youth

To characterize the factors determined by age 18 that may explain youth pathways to adulthood and economic self-sufficiency, we divided individual factors into six distinct categories, representing the order in which they are determined or measured in a young person's life:

- 1. **Demographics**. Factors that describe predetermined individual characteristics, including year of birth, sex, and race and ethnicity.
- 2. **Parent and family characteristics**. Factors that describe an individual's parents or family, such as parental education level, household size, and parenting style.
- 3. **Environmental characteristics**. Factors that describe an individual's physical and social environment, such as their peers' behaviors and whether youth reside in an urban or rural area.
- 4. **Childhood characteristics and experiences**. Factors that describe the childhood experiences of individuals, including school characteristics, childhood experiences, and physical-, mental-, or emotional-limiting conditions identified in childhood.
- 5. **Cognitive ability, measured at adolescence**. Factors that describe cognitive assessments, including the Armed Services Vocational Aptitude Battery score, SAT score, and ACT score. For the NLSY97, these tests were all administered in adolescence.
- 6. **Adolescent characteristics, behaviors, and relationships**. Factors that describe the characteristics, attitudes, behaviors, and relationships youth experience in adolescence. This category includes variables such as youth sexual behaviors, drug and alcohol use, and beliefs about the future expressed in adolescence.

Table A.2 lists all of the factors included and the associated factor category. We considered these categories to be sequentially determined over time, to ensure it is reasonable to analyze them in a stepwise variance decomposition (see below for detail). All of the variables are measured at the first wave of the NLSY97 survey unless otherwise indicated.

Table A.2. Individual factors defined in youth

⁸ We do not include people who have only completed high school in this category, despite the fact that they have not deviated from the success sequence prescribed model, given the age threshold of 30 and the low associated likelihood of economic self-sufficiency.

Factor categories and individual factors
Anyone in household received government benefits (for example, Aid to Families with Dependent Children (AFDC),
food stamps, housing assistance)
Anyone in household received unemployment insurance or workers compensation ^a
Biological mother younger than 20 at first birth
Biological mother younger than 20 at respondent birth
Born outside of the United States
Both biological parents lived in the household when respondent was age 2
Either parent served prison sentence
Family/home risk index
Father served in military
Father supportive of respondent
Father's education
Household income at first survey
Household size
Language spoken at home
Log of household income
Mother served in military
Mother supportive of respondent
Mother's education
Net worth of household according to parent
Nonresponding parent race/ethnicity
Number of children in household at first survey
Number of parents in household
Parent has long-term health problem limiting employment
Parent's general health
Parent's spouse/partner general health
Parent's spouse/partner has long-term health problem limiting employment
Religion
Residential dad supportive of residential mom
Residential father's parenting style
Residential mom supportive of residential dad
Residential mother's parenting style
Responding parent's race/ethnicity
Square root of net worth of household
Youth lived with both biological parents at age 2
Environmental characteristics
Census region of residence
Enriching environment risk index
Living in urban/rural area
Number of students in primary school district

Factor categories and individual factors
Percent of peers who belong to a gang
Percent of peers in sports, clubs, school activities
Percent of peers using illegal drugs
Percent of peers who cut classes or school
Percent of peers who do volunteer work
Percent of peers who get drunk one or more times a month
Percent of peers who go to church regularly
Percent of peers who have had sex
Percent of peers who plan to go to college
Percent of peers who smoke
Physical environment risk index
Reside in metropolitan statistical area
Childhood characteristics and experiences
Attended public primary school
Both biological parents lived in the household when respondent was age 6
Both biological parents lived in the household when respondent was age 12
Changed schools from ages 5–12
Ever repeated a grade
Has a learning disability
Has a mental or emotional limiting condition
Has any limiting condition
House or apartment broken into before age 12
Index of family routines
Seen someone shot with gun by age 12
Type of school attended
Victim of bullying before age 12
Youth ever lived through hard times
Youth spent 20 or more hours in child care first year
Cognitive ability
ASVAB score
Highest ACT score
Log of ASVAB score
SAT math score
SAT verbal score
Adolescent characteristics, behaviors, and relationships
Age at first date
Age at first menstrual period
Age at first sex
Age at first time smoked
Age at first time drank alcohol

Factor categories and individual factors
Age at first time used cocaine or other hard drugs
Age at first time used marijuana
Age when puberty began
Arrested by age 18
Behavioral/emotional problems scale, parent report
Behavioral/emotional problems scale, youth report
Belief about what method best prevents pregnancy
Belief on the best method for preventing sexually transmitted disease ^a
Belief on when in menstrual cycle pregnancy is likely to occur
Believes disruptions by other students get in the way of learning
Believes school discipline is fair
Believes students are graded fairly at school
Believes teachers are good
Believes teachers are interested in students
Believes there is a lot of cheating on tests and assignments at school
Charged with a crime by age 18: assault
Charged with a crime by age 18: property damage
Charged with a crime by age 18: theft, burglary, robbery
Convicted of a crime by age 18
Delinquency score index
Ever belonged to gang
Ever drank alcohol
Ever employed as a teen
Ever employed as a teen for at least 50 weeks
Ever gotten someone pregnant
Ever had sex
Ever had something stolen at school
Ever in a fight at school
Ever late for school without an excuse
Ever run away from home
Ever smoked a cigarette
Ever suspended from school
Ever threatened to be hurt at school
Ever used hard drugs (cocaine, inhalants, or other drugs)
Ever used marijuana
Expected likelihood of attending college
Feels safe at school
Grades received in 8th grade
Grades received in high school
House or apartment broken into ages 12–18

Factor categories and individual factors
Limit breaking, youth report
Limit-setting index, youth report
Number of days used marijuana in past 30 days
Number of non-live births from previous pregnancies
Number of days absent from school
Number of jobs from ages 14–19
Number of sexual partners ever had
Number of times changed schools from ages 13–18
Number of times late to school without excuse
Number of times used marijuana before or during school or work
Number of weeks employed from ages 14–19
Number of times ever pregnant
Optimism scale
Parental monitoring by residential father
Parental monitoring by residential mother
Percent chance has a college degree by 30 years old, parent report
Percent chance has a college degree by 30 years old, youth report
Percent chance in jail by 20 years old, parent report
Percent chance in jail by 20 years old, youth report
Percent chance works 20 or more hours per week by 30 years old, parent report
Percent chance works 20 or more hours per week by 30 years old, youth report
Percent chance youth arrested by next year, youth report
Percent chance youth gets someone pregnant by next year, youth report
Percent chance youth has high school diploma by 20 years old, parent report
Percent chance youth has high school diploma by 20 years old, youth report
Percent chance youth is a parent by 20 years old, parent report
Percent chance youth is a parent by 20 years old, youth report
Percent chance youth is in school next year, parent report
Percent chance youth is in school next year, youth report
Percent chance youth is pregnant by next year, youth report
Seen someone shot with gun ages 12–18
Self-reported general health ^a
Substance use index
Used condom at first sex
Used birth control at first sex
Victim of bullying ages 12–18
Youth mental health scale

Source: National Longitudinal Survey of Youth, 1997 Cohort.

^a These factors were dropped from all least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (LASSO) models. ASVAB = Armed Services Vocational Aptitude Battery.

Analysis of factors

We estimated the share of the variance in outcomes that can be explained by each of the six factor categories using a step-wise variance decomposition (Anglim and Grant 2014; Ghani and Ahmad 2010). This method allows us to estimate the share of the variance that can be explained by adding each factor category incrementally to the regression. Both demographic characteristics and parent and family characteristics are determined before or at birth; therefore, we started building our models with demographic characteristics, followed by parent and family characteristics. Environmental characteristics, such as whether one lives in a rural versus urban area or the characteristics of their peers, are likely to be determined by parent and family characteristics and experiences. We considered cognitive ability to follow childhood, given that our available estimates of cognitive ability were measured at early adolescence. This category included scores on cognitive tests, which are likely impacted by childhood experiences such as school quality. Finally, we considered factors We attributed the incremental share of variation explained when each factor category is added as the share of the variance explained by this category.

To estimate this, we took the following steps:

Step 1. Run a least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (LASSO) logistic regression model with five-fold cross validation of the outcome on all variables in factor category 1, demographics. Identify the variables selected by this model.

Step 2. Run a logistic regression of the outcome on the variables selected by the LASSO model in Step 1. Identify the pseudo *R*-squared as the share of the variance explained by demographics.

Step 3. Run a LASSO logistic regression model with five-fold cross validation of the outcome on all variables selected as factors in factor category 2, parent and family characteristics, forcing all the variables selected in Step 1 to be included in the model. Identify the variables selected by this model.

Step 4. Run a logistic regression of the outcome on the variables selected by the LASSO model in Steps 1 and 3. Identify the pseudo *R*-squared as the share of the variance explained by demographics and parent and family characteristics. Estimate the share of the variance explained by parent and family characteristics as the difference between the pseudo *R*-squared estimated in Step 4 and the pseudo *R*-squared estimated in Step 2. Repeat these steps for the subsequent factor categories.

We ran this model on seven unique combinations of outcomes and samples to address our two research questions, as shown in Table A.3.

Model	Research question	Outcome	Sample
1	1.a: What are the factors associated with completing each milestone?	Indicator equal to 1 if an individual completed high school	Full sample
2	1.a: What are the factors associated with completing each milestone?	Indicator equal to 1 if an individual completed employment	Full sample
3	1.a: What are the factors associated with completing each milestone?	Indicator equal to 1 if an individual got married	Full sample
4	1.a: What are the factors associated with completing each milestone?	Indicator equal to 1 if an individual had a child	Full sample
5	1.b: What are the factors associated with completing the milestones in the prescribed order of the success sequence?	Indicator equal to 1 if an individual took a pathway that is consistent with the success sequence model	Full sample
6	2.a: What are the factors associated with following success sequence milestones in the prescribed order but not achieving economic self-sufficiency?	Indicator equal to 1 if an individual had a family income of at least 300 percent of the poverty level at their most recent interview	Individuals who took a pathway that is consistent with the success sequence model
7	2. b: What are the factors associated with not following the success sequence milestones in the prescribed order but still achieving economic self-sufficiency?	Indicator equal to 1 if an individual had a family income of at least 300 percent of the poverty level at their most recent interview	Individuals who took a pathway that is not consistent with the success sequence

Table A.3. List of quantitative report analyses

In our regression models, for binary and categorical covariates with missing values, all missing values were imputed at the mode of the variable. For continuous variables, missing values were imputed to the average value. We also included flags for each variable indicating a missing value. For categorical variables, the mode was considered as the excluded category.

A.2. Qualitative Analysis

Recruitment and sample selection

Mathematica worked with a market research vendor, Schlesinger Group, to recruit interview participants for the qualitative interviews described in this report. Schlesinger Group maintains a large and diverse active panel of more than 640,000 users and obtains demographic information from all users at intake. Schlesinger Group recruited interviewees from its online panel by using a participant screener developed by Mathematica and the Office of Planning, Research, and Evaluation.

The recruitment screener collected information about whether potential participants had achieved each of the four success sequence milestones: high school graduation, full-time employment, marriage, and childbearing. To ensure that the interview sample represented participants with diverse educational pathways, the screener asked for the highest educational degree attained. The recruitment screener asked whether participants had ever been employed full-time or had ever married to ensure that participants who had been previously employed full time but were not currently employed full time or that participants who had previously been married but were not currently married had achieved the employment and marriage milestones. To be inclusive of alternative family structures, the recruitment screener asked whether participants had any children (including biological, adopted, or foster care). The

recruitment screener obtained information about participants' age, gender, ethnicity, race, current employment status, personal and household income for 2021, and state of residence.

Before the start of recruitment, Mathematica provided Schlesinger Group with recruitment targets based on educational attainment, household income, marriage and childbearing status, geographic region, and primary language Spanish. Mathematica specified these targets to ensure that the sample was broadly diverse and contained a mix of pathways to ensure representation of a variety of life experiences and backgrounds from participants. A breakdown of recruitment targets appears in Appendix Table A.4.

Although the final sample did not match recruitment targets exactly, our final sample was racially and ethnically diverse and encompassed considerable variation in degree of education attainment, household income, and geographic region of residence. In Appendix Table B.2, we present a complete breakdown of the demographic characteristics of our final analytic sample.

	English-language recruitment targets	Spanish-language recruitment targets
Total	195	30
Educational attainment		
High school diploma/equivalent or less	85	10
Associate degree	25	10
Bachelor's degree or higher	52	10
Marital status and childbearing		
Never married, no children	45	7
Never married, with children	50	8
Married, with children	50	7
Married, no children	50	8
Household income		
\$49,000 or less	55	10
\$50,000 to \$74,999	45	10
\$75,000 or more	95	10
Geographic region of residence		
Northeast	47	7
South	47	8
Midwest	47	7
West	47	8

Table A.4. Recruitment targets by interview language

Source: Success sequence interviews, conducted between May and August 2022 by Mathematica.

Note: We asked Schlesinger Group to secure a sample as varied as possible in terms of race and ethnicity and gender identity. We did not set any recruitment target on employment status.

Data collection

The interviews were conducted using QualBoard, which allows participants to type in responses rather than speak as they would in face-to-face or telephone-based interviews. The platform allowed the participants to be asynchronous; that is, participants were not necessarily online at the same time as the interviewer, and participants could log in and out of the interview at their convenience. The flexibility offered by the platform helped in recruiting parents of young children, participants with full-time or multiple jobs, and current students. It also enabled participants to remain anonymous to the Mathematica team (identified only by first name and last initial) and not bound by physical location. Upon completing the interviews, participants received gift cards to thank them for their participation.

Topics covered in the interview

The interview was divided into sections covering five main topics: education, employment and work experience, family life, financial status, and final thoughts, as summarized in Figure A.1. The topics largely align with the four major milestones in the success sequence model, with marriage and childbearing included as part of the family life topic.

	Education	Highest level of education; date of degree completion; plans post high school; paths taken to complete postsecondary education; financial supports received for college or post- graduate degrees; GED and other alternative degree completion and associated factors; perceived impact of education on financial situation; future education plans; mental health, physical health, and any barriers faced in implementing plans and pursuing education.
-	Employment and work experience	Current employment or unemployment; date of first full-time job; hours worked in current job; multiple-job status and factors behind holding more than one job; tenure at current job and path taken; reason for unemployment and type of job searched; mental health, physical health, or other barriers that have prevented pursuit of employment; impacts of 2008 recession and COVID-19 on employment.
i	Family life	Relationship history (marriage and cohabitation), sexual orientation; (if married) whether they got married when they wanted to, what made them and their spouse decide to get married, and what impact marriage, divorce, or separation has had on their financial situation overall; education and employment experience of spouse/partner; (if not married) plans for marriage and factors influencing their decision; (if has a child) number of children; ages of children; circumstances and thoughts surrounding them at the time of first child; any financial impacts of having a child; (for childless participants) plans for childbearing and factors and circumstances that might affect these plans. Household composition.
	Financial status	Homeownership, debt, access to health insurance, ability to meet monthly expenses and save money, reliance on family and friends for financial or other supports, and household and personal incomes for 2021; whether and how the COVID-19 pandemic changed their financial well-being.
$\dot{\bigcirc}$	Final thoughts	Thinking about the trajectory of their life, what the respondent sees coming next; additional factors not mentioned before.

		~	1 4	C .	•						• •	•
FIGURE	Δ1	Snang	shot o	t tor	ncs	covered	In	SUICCESS	Sen	llience	inter	1/10/1/5
inguic	/	Junups			JICJ	covered		Juccess	300	uchec	inter	10103

Coding factors surrounding milestone completion

Analytic matrices and identification of factors associated with milestone completion

Developing the codes and subcodes

The team coded and analyzed data by using the Framework Analysis Method, developed by Jane Ritchie

and Jane Lewis to analyze qualitative data in applied research contexts (Gale et al. 2013). The framework includes five steps: data familiarization, identifying a thematic framework, coding (indexing) the data against the framework, charting to summarize the indexed data, and mapping and interpreting patterns in the data (Goldsmith 2021). The study team familiarized itself with the data during several brainstorming sessions in which coders discussed what they were seeing in the data. The team identified themes based on these discussions, the interview protocol, and the research questions. The coding team developed the codes and subcodes to categorize responses based on how participant responses indicated a facilitator or a barrier to achieving a milestone. For each question, we coded the responses for a specific milestone and aligned it to the research questions. We coded each response in the code that affected the milestone and in the subcode most responsible for affecting the milestone. For example, a response describing the role of family emotional support in a marriage was coded in the code "Family" and subcode "Family emotional support" within the marriage milestone.

Each probe and follow-up response within a question were also coded within the same milestone but could be coded in different codes. For example, if a probe in a question about marriage yielded a response that named family and a subsequent probe yielded a response that named friends, we coded the responses "Family" and "Friends," respectively.

Training and using the codebook

Before coding, the coding team reviewed the definitions of the codes and subcodes. The team discussed such issues as how to code longer sections and how to assign subcodes when a portion of a response could be coded into two codes. For example, if a participant said, "My wife and I both have good jobs that allow us to save money," the subcodes "Personal" and "Partner/support" could be appropriate. The coding team decided that for phrases using "we," the code would be "Personal"; when the phrasing referred only to the spouse ("My spouse makes good money"), the code would be "Partner/spouse."

Coders reviewed how to code each interview in batches by sequences of completed milestones. They also reviewed how to code for a milestone, a code, and a subcode. For example, a response in the education milestone could be coded within the "Personal" code, in the "Personal health" subcode. Coders also discussed how to assign subcodes to responses within the same code—for example, whether to choose personal finances instead of personal values for a response describing financial decisions. The coding team also agreed to ask other team members to confirm coding decisions when needed. The only coded passages were those that answered research questions. Passages with responses such as "I don't know" and "No comment" were not coded.

After each interview, interviewers coded the success sequence path and the participant's economic selfsufficiency status. The initial round of response coding used Insight tags in Qualboard.

Using analytic matrices to chart the data

After the initial round of coding, the responses were added to analytic matrices for each milestone (education, employment, marriage, and childbearing) and for economic self-sufficiency. Each analytic matrix included all the codes and subcodes, such as "Family" as code, and "Financial support from family," "Emotional support from family," "Family health," "Family values," and "Support for child care and caregiving" as subcodes. During this stage of systematically organizing coded responses into the analytic

matrices, valences were added to indicate a facilitator (+), a barrier (-), or a neutral response (/). For example, for factors influencing the completion of the education milestone, we coded the response "Primarily financing my education was the biggest barrier" as a barrier, and we coded the response "My mom also cosigned my student loans" as a facilitator.

Identifying milestones, pathways, and middle-income status using interview data

Identifying milestones

We asked participants to provide the month and year for each milestone they had completed, including high school graduation, first full-time employment, first marriage, and birth of first child.

For high school graduation, we counted participants whose highest education was a high school diploma or higher as achieving the high school education milestone and asked those participants to provide the month and year of their high school graduation. We did not ask participants with a GED or alternative high school diploma this question and did not count them as achieving Milestone 1. We excluded GED receipt from our primary definition of this milestone because GED recipients tend to have different outcomes than people who receive high school diplomas (Ewert 2012). Some participants could not remember the exact month of their high school graduation and provided estimates such as "May/June 2009."

For employment, we asked participants if they had ever worked full time, defined as at least 35 hours a week, at a paying job while not in school full time; we instructed them to disregard any summer jobs. We counted participants who answered "Yes" as achieving the full-time employment milestone and asked them to provide the month and year in which they started their first full-time job. Some participants struggled to recall details about the month in which they started their first full-time job and were able to provide only the season (that is, "summer 2008") or the year for the milestone.

For marriage, we asked participants if they had ever married. We counted participants who answered "Yes" as achieving the marriage milestone and asked them to provide the month and year in which they were first married.

For childbearing, we asked participants if they had children, including biological, foster, and adopted children. We counted participants who answered "Yes" as achieving Milestone 4 and asked them to provide the month and year in which their first child was born. Interviewers asked follow-up questions of participants who indicated that children were fostered or adopted to ascertain the month and year in which the children became part of participants' households; for these alternative family structures, the month and year the child(ren) entered the home was the date for the childbearing milestone.

Identifying pathways

Interviewers used probes to clarify any unclear or complex milestone trajectories. For example, several participants graduated from high school and began full-time employment within the same month and year, and some participants got married and had their first child within the same month and year. In situations like these, interviewers asked probing questions to clarify the order of these near-simultaneous milestones. Interviewers also probed participants who struggled to remember the exact month and year in

which they completed a particular milestone, asking follow-up questions designed to ascertain the order of the milestones, such as "Was that before or after your first child was born?"

Once we had approximate dates for each milestone, interviewers assigned each participant a numeric sequence (for example, 2, 1, 3, 4) to represent the order in which a participant completed milestones. The interview lead performed quality assurance checks on each sequence to ensure accuracy. With the sequences finalized, the interview lead added an indicator for each participant as to whether the participant followed or was on track to follow the success sequence— participants with a milestone sequence of 1, 2; 1, 2, 3; or 1, 2, 3, 4—or not. In our interview sample, 125 participants followed or were on track to follow the success sequence, whereas 100 participants had deviated from it.⁹

Determining economic self-sufficiency

All participants were required to provide ranges on the recruitment screener for their household and personal incomes before taxes and deductions for 2021. During the interview, we asked participants again to provide a range for their household and personal incomes before taxes and deductions for 2021, though the ranges were narrower for the lower and higher income categories than on the recruitment screener. Participants were able to respond to these questions in the interview by saying that they did not know or preferred not to disclose their household or personal incomes; for these participants, we used the broader income range captured on the recruitment screener for economic analyses. In Table A.5, we provide a comparison of the household income data gathered on the recruitment screener and the household income data gathered in the interview.

In the family life section of the interview, we collected information on the number of adults and children in the participant's household and categories of those individuals (such as spouse/partner, mother, father, unrelated roommates, and so on). We used the information to determine each participant's household size. For purposes of our economic well-being analyses, we decided to count participants who lived only with roommates, participants who were currently experiencing homelessness, and a participant who worked as a live-in nanny as households of one and replaced their provided household income information with their provided personal income information.

To determine each participant's poverty status, we compared each participant's household income to 100 percent of the 2021 federal poverty guideline¹⁰ for a household of the participant's size to determine whether the participant had escaped poverty. We discovered that 14 participants (6.2 percent) had not escaped poverty, whereas 206 participants (91.6 percent) were near or over the poverty line. The remaining five participants' poverty status could not be determined with the household income range available to us.

To determine each participant's middle-class status, we compared each participant's household income to 300 percent of the 2021 federal poverty guideline for a household of the participant's size. We discovered

⁹ Two participants who had completed only Milestone 1 were counted as deviating from the success sequence, as they had not completed any additional milestones.

¹⁰ Source: <u>https://aspe.hhs.gov/topics/poverty-economic-mobility/poverty-guidelines/prior-hhs-poverty-guidelines-federal-register-references/2021-poverty-guidelines.</u>

that 89 participants (39.6 percent) had not achieved middle-class status, whereas 105 participants (46.7 percent) were near or over 300 percent of the federal poverty guideline. The remaining 31 participants' middle-class status could not be determined with the household income range available to us.

Household income	English-language participants	Spanish-language participants	All participants
As collected on recruitment screener			
Less than \$24,999	24	5	29
\$25,000 to \$49,000	41	10	51
\$50,000 to \$74,999	40	10	50
\$75,000 or more	90	5	95
As collected during interview			
Less than \$9,999	4	0	4
\$10,000 to \$14,999	4	0	4
\$15,000 to \$19,999	8	1	9
\$20,000 to \$24,999	7	2	9
\$25,000 to \$29,999	8	1	9
\$30,000 to \$39,999	12	2	14
\$40,000 to \$49,999	1	8	24
\$50,000 to \$74,999	40	10	50
\$75,000 to \$99,999	34	4	38
\$100,000 to \$149,999	27	1	28
\$150,000 to \$199,999	20	0	20
\$200,000 or more	9	0	9
Don't know or prefer not to answer	6	1	7

Table A.5. 2021 household income for interview participants

Source: Success sequence interviews, conducted between May and August 2022 by Mathematica.

This page has been left blank for double-sided copying.

Appendix B

Supplementary Tables and Figures

This page has been left blank for double-sided copying.

The tables and figures in this appendix provide additional information on our data and findings. We begin with the characteristics of the analytic samples we used in the quantitative and qualitative components of our analysis (Tables B.1 and B.2). Next, we present the unique pathways sample members followed in each of our data sources (Figures B.1 and B.2). We detail our findings on factors associated with non-poverty status, as an alternative to middle-class status, which is our main measure of economic self-sufficiency in this report (Figure B.3). Finally, the appendix provides results from our full regression models for the results presented in Tables B.3 and B.4.

|--|

	Percentage
Gender	
Female	48.6
Race/ethnicity	
Non-Hispanic White	67.3
Non-Hispanic Black	15.4
Hispanic	12.6
Geographic region of residence	
Northeast	18.0
North Central	45.0
South	34.2
West	20.8
Parental education	
High school education or less	42.8
At least some college education	57.2

Source: National Longitudinal Survey of Youth, 1997 Cohort (NLSY97), weighted data.

Note: The NLSY97 sample was limited to 7,049 individuals with data available to measure milestone completion through age 30.

	Number of participants	Percentage of participants
Gender identity and sexual orientation		
Male	103	45.8
Female	121	53.8
Straight	182	80.9
Race/ethnicity		
Non-Hispanic White	88	39.1
Non-Hispanic Black	42	18.7
Hispanic	68	30.2
Educational attainment		
High school diploma or equivalent or less	57	25.3
Some college, no degree	44	19.6
Associate degree	24	10.6
Vocational degree or certificate	7	3.1
Bachelor's degree or higher	93	41.3
Household income		
\$49,000 or less	80	35.6
\$50,000 to \$74,999	50	22.2
\$75,000 or more	95	42.2
Geographic region of residence		
Northeast	46	20.4
Southeast	45	20.0
Southwest	31	13.8
Midwest	57	25.3
West	46	20.4
Primary language		
English	195	86.7
Spanish	30	13.3

Table B.2. Characteristics of respondents in the qualitative interview sample

Source: Success sequence interviews, conducted between May and August 2022 by Mathematica.

Note: Percentages refer to the share of each subgroup within the total sample. Analytic sample includes 225 respondents for whom we have complete information on milestone completion status and date and household income.



Figure B.1. Sequences of milestones by age 30 (by percentage completing)

Source: National Longitudinal Survey of Youth, 1997 Cohort (NLSY97).

Notes: The sample was limited to 7,049 individuals with data available through age 30. The figure represents the distribution of the NLSY97 sample by the 64 sequences of milestones observed in the data. On the left, the figure starts with the proportion of young adults who completed each of the four milestones as their first milestone. Moving toward the right, for each first milestone, the figure then shows the proportion of youth who completed each of the remaining three milestones as their second milestone, and so forth. Because not all respondents had completed all four milestones by age 30, the figure also shows curved downward lines for the proportion of young adults who completed only some of the milestones by age 30. The bold and italic indicate the proportions of young adults by the latest milestone they had completed by age 30.





Source: Success sequence interviews, conducted between May and August 2022 by Mathematica.

Notes: The sample includes 225 participants interviewed between June and August 2022 for whom we have complete information. The figure represents the distribution of the sample by the 30 sequences of milestones observed in the data. On the top, the figure starts with the number of young adults who completed each of the four milestones as their first milestone. Moving down, for each first milestone, the figure shows the number of youth who completed each of the remaining three milestones as their second milestone, and so forth. Given that not all respondents had completed all four milestones by age 30 to 35, the figure also shows curved lines for the number of young adults who completed only some milestones.

Figure B.3. Factors associated with non-poverty status

a. Participants who followed a success sequence pathway

% of total variance explained by the factors

Economic self-13 74% of total variation unexplained ררר 2 sufficiency Unexplained b. Participants who did not follow a success sequence pathway % of total variance explained by the factors **Economic self-**10 78% of total variation unexplained sufficiency Childhood Environme Unexplained

Source: National Longitudinal Survey of Youth, 1997 Cohort.

Note: The percentages for factor categories indicate the share of the total variance in <u>non-poverty status</u> among those who *followed* (panel a) and *did not follow* (panel b) a success sequence pathway that can be explained by each factor category after accounting for the previous categories.

Table B.3 Results of step-wise variance decomposition for milestones and order

Coefficient	HS	E	М	С	SS
Pseudo r-squared (percent)	47	17	11	18	24
Factor category: Demographic characterist	ics				
Gender: Male	0.01 (0.11)	0.75 (0.10)	-0.38 (0.07)	-0.65 (0.07)	0.49 (0.07)
Race/ethnicity: Hispanic	0.19 (0.16)	-	-0.45 (0.12)	-0.17 (0.13)	-0.16 (0.11)
Race/ethnicity: Non-Hispanic Black	0.40 (0.16)	-0.15 (0.12)	-1.25 (0.09)	-0.15 (0.10)	-0.17 (0.10)
Race/ethnicity: Non-Hispanic other	-	-0.54 (0.21)	-0.69 (0.16)	-0.63 (0.17)	-
Year of birth: 1980	0.50 (0.16)	-	0.08 (0.10)	-0.05 (0.11)	-
Year of birth: 1982	-	-	-0.06 (0.10)	0.18 (0.15)	-
Year of birth: 1983	-	-	-0.18 (0.12)	0.06 (0.17)	-
Year of birth: 1984	-	-0.22 (0.12)	0.00 (0.12)	0.29 (0.18)	-
Year of birth: 1985	-	-0.07 (0.35)	-0.21 (0.24)	-0.03 (0.31)	-
Factor category: Parent and family character	eristics				
Age of biological mother at first birth	-0.03 (0.02)	-0.03 (0.01)	-0.01 (0.05)	-0.00 (0.01)	-0.00 (0.01)
Age of biological mother at first birth, squared	-	-	-0.00 (0.00)	-	-
Age of biological mother at first birth: Missing	-0.18 (0.19)	-	-	-	-
Age of biological mother at respondent birth	-	-	-0.01 (0.01)	-0.02 (0.01)	-
Age of biological mother at respondent birth, squared	0.00 (0.00)	-	-	-	-
Age of biological mother at respondent birth: Missing	-	-0.17 (0.18)	-0.29 (0.13)	-0.18 (0.13)	-
Anyone in household received government benefits (for example, AFDC, food stamps, housing assistance)	-0.51 (0.14)	-0.50 (0.13)	0.19 (0.10)	1.30 (0.15)	-1.29 (0.19)
Biological mother age less than 20 at first birth	-0.19 (0.14)	-	-	0.01 (0.12)	-0.14 (0.12)
Biological mother age less than 20 at respondent birth	-	-0.30 (0.14)	-	0.23 (0.15)	-0.20 (0.14)
Both biological parents live in the household when respondent was age 2	-	0.60 (0.21)	-	-	0.32 (0.16)
Either parent has served prison sentence	-0.14 (0.16)	-0.03 (0.17)	-0.18 (0.13)	0.09 (0.14)	-0.16 (0.16)
Either parent has served prison sentence: Missing	-	0.64 (0.37)	-0.47 (0.36)	-0.59 (0.31)	-
Family/home risk index	0.00 (0.00)	0.00 (0.00)	0.00 (0.00)	-0.00 (0.00)	-0.00 (0.00)
Father is not very supportive of respondent	-	-0.32 (0.21)	-0.15 (0.17)	-	0.10 (0.21)
Father is somewhat supportive of respondent	-	-	-0.07 (0.10)	-	-0.06 (0.12)
Father is supportive of respondent: Missing	-0.04 (0.14)	-0.13 (0.13)	-0.10 (0.11)	-	-
Father served in military	-	0.05 (0.11)	0.15 (0.07)	-	0.00 (0.08)
Father served in military: Missing	-0.20 (0.17)	-0.07 (0.16)	-0.09 (0.12)	-	-

Coefficient	HS	E	М	С	SS
Foreign born: Missing	-0.39 (0.27)	-	-	-	-
Foreign born: Not foreign born	-0.14 (0.18)	-	-	-0.14 (0.12)	-0.01 (0.13)
Household income	0.00 (0.00)	-	-	-0.00 (0.00)	0.00 (0.00)
Household income: Missing	0.09 (0.14)	-	-	0.21 (0.10)	-
Household income: Zero	-	-	-	-0.14 (0.15)	-
Household size (Wave 1)	-0.05 (0.03)	-0.01 (0.03)	-	0.07 (0.04)	-
Language spoken at home: English	-	-0.19 (0.16)	-0.13 (0.13)	-	-
Log of household income	-	0.02 (0.02)	-	-	-
Mother is not very supportive of respondent	-0.09 (0.27)	-0.32 (0.24)	0.41 (0.22)	-	-
Mother is somewhat supportive of respondent	0.13 (0.16)	-	0.08 (0.10)	0.09 (0.11)	0.04 (0.11)
Mother served in military	-	0.46 (0.39)	0.29 (0.20)	-0.31 (0.21)	-
Net worth of household according to parent	-	-	-	-0.00 (0.00)	-
Net worth of household according to parent: Missing	0.26 (0.19)	-	-	-0.11 (0.10)	0.09 (0.11)
Nonresponding parent 1's race/ethnicity: Hispanic	0.24 (0.25)	0.32 (0.26)	0.23 (0.15)	0.14 (0.19)	-
Nonresponding parent 1's race/ethnicity: Missing	0.02 (0.15)	-	-	-0.00 (0.08)	0.04 (0.09)
Nonresponding parent 1's race/ethnicity: Non-Hispanic Black	0.56 (0.23)	-	-	-	-
Nonresponding parent 2's race/ethnicity: Missing	-	0.69 (0.24)	-	-	0.34 (0.24)
Nonresponding parent 2's race/ethnicity: Non-Hispanic Black	-	-	-0.51 (0.28)	-	-
Number of children in household (Wave 1): Missing	-	-	-	0.05 (0.05)	-0.08 (0.03)
Number of parents in household: 0	-0.33 (0.21)	0.01 (0.23)	0.18 (0.17)	-	-0.12 (0.20)
Number of parents in household: 1	-	-	-0.06 (0.08)	-	-
Parent has long-term health problem limiting employment	-0.20 (0.15)	-0.05 (0.12)	-	-	-0.06 (0.11)
Parent's general health is fair or poor	0.06 (0.15)	-	0.10 (0.10)	-	0.12 (0.12)
Parent's spouse/partner has long-term health problem limiting employment	0.59 (0.22)	-0.18 (0.20)	-0.58 (0.13)	-0.26 (0.12)	-
Parent's spouse/partner has long-term health problem limiting employment: Missing	0.01 (0.16)	-0.11 (0.13)	-0.12 (0.09)	-	-
Parent's spouse/partner's general health is fair or poor	-0.17 (0.21)	0.43 (0.23)	0.20 (0.14)	-	-
Religion: Catholic	0.20 (0.13)	0.28 (0.13)	-0.11 (0.08)	-0.07 (0.08)	0.12 (0.08)
Religion: Non-religious	-0.43 (0.33)	-	-0.19 (0.18)	-	-
Religion: Other religion (not Christian)	0.43 (0.39)	-0.33 (0.25)	-0.14 (0.19)	-0.15 (0.19)	-

Coefficient	HS	E	М	С	SS
Residential father supportive of residential mother index	-0.03 (0.02)	-	-	0.01 (0.01)	-
Residential father's parenting style: Authoritarian	0.00 (0.13)	-0.18 (0.13)	-	-	-0.01 (0.14)
Residential father's parenting style: Missing	-	-	-	-	-0.12 (0.11)
Residential father's parenting style: Permissive	-	-	-0.06 (0.09)	-	-
Residential father's parenting style: Uninvolved	-	-	-0.14 (0.12)	-0.12 (0.10)	-
Residential mother supportive of residential father index	-	-0.04 (0.02)	0.03 (0.01)	0.02 (0.02)	-0.01 (0.01)
Residential mother's parenting style: Authoritarian	-	-0.13 (0.14)	-	0.09 (0.12)	-0.18 (0.13)
Residential mother's parenting style: Missing	-0.26 (0.29)	-	-	0.14 (0.22)	-0.02 (0.22)
Residential mother's parenting style: Permissive	-0.13 (0.11)	-	-0.13 (0.07)	-0.06 (0.07)	-
Residential mother's parenting style: Uninvolved	-0.22 (0.18)	0.20 (0.15)	-0.30 (0.12)	-	-
Residential/biological father has completed at least high school	0.29 (0.13)	0.20 (0.13)	-0.12 (0.08)	0.04 (0.09)	0.05 (0.10)
Residential/biological father has completed at least some college	-0.05 (0.16)	-	-	0.06 (0.09)	0.05 (0.09)
Residential/biological father has completed college	0.29 (0.24)	-0.50 (0.15)	-	-0.03 (0.11)	-0.07 (0.11)
Residential/biological father's education: Missing	-0.12 (0.15)	-0.29 (0.14)	-	-	-
Residential/biological mother has completed at least high school	0.27 (0.12)	0.03 (0.12)	0.13 (0.09)	0.05 (0.10)	0.02 (0.10)
Residential/biological mother has completed at least some college	0.17 (0.13)	-	-0.06 (0.07)	0.01 (0.08)	0.07 (0.09)
Residential/biological mother has completed college	0.25 (0.24)	-0.12 (0.15)	-	-0.37 (0.10)	0.11 (0.11)
Residential/biological mother's education: Missing	0.30 (0.22)	-0.01 (0.22)	-	-	-
Responding parent's race/ethnicity: Hispanic	-	-	0.22 (0.16)	0.14 (0.16)	-
Square root of net worth of household according to parent	0.00 (0.00)	-	-	-	0.00 (0.00)
Youth lives with both biological parents	0.18 (0.14)	-	-	-	-0.09 (0.09)
Factor category: Environmental characteris	tics				
At least 25% of peers belong to a gang	-0.07 (0.11)	-	-	0.24 (0.08)	-0.17 (0.09)
At least 25% of peers cut classes or school	-	-	-	-	0.23 (0.09)
At least 25% of peers do volunteer work	-0.11 (0.12)	-	-	0.06 (0.08)	-0.07 (0.07)
At least 25% of peers get drunk 1+ times a month	0.10 (0.14)	-	-	-	-

Coefficient HS		E	м	С	SS
At least 25% of peers go to church regularly	0.06 (0.14)	-0.04 (0.14)	-	-	-0.03 (0.12)
At least 25% of peers have had sex	-0.19 (0.27)	0.15 (0.18)	-	0.00 (0.14)	-0.09 (0.15)
At least 25% of peers in sports, clubs, school activities	-	0.12 (0.26)	-	-	-
At least 25% of peers plan to go to college	-	-	-	-	0.35 (0.23)
At least 25% of peers smoke	-	0.15 (0.11)	-	-	-0.02 (0.10)
At least 50% of peers belong to a gang	-	-	-	-	-0.04 (0.15)
At least 50% of peers cut classes or school	0.02 (0.12)	-	-	-	-0.13 (0.09)
At least 50% of peers do volunteer work	-0.20 (0.14)	-	-	0.07 (0.08)	-
At least 50% of peers get drunk 1+ times a month	0.20 (0.14)	0.37 (0.12)	-	-	0.19 (0.10)
At least 50% of peers go to church regularly	-0.04 (0.11)	0.13 (0.11)	-	-0.06 (0.07)	-0.00 (0.08)
At least 50% of peers have had sex	-0.06 (0.20)	-	-	0.15 (0.11)	0.04 (0.11)
At least 50% of peers in sports, clubs, school activities	-	0.13 (0.16)	-	-	-
At least 50% of peers plan to go to college	-	-	-	-0.07 (0.10)	-
At least 50% of peers smoke	-0.00 (0.14)	-	-	-0.02 (0.08)	-0.11 (0.10)
At least 50% of peers use illegal drugs	-	-	-	-	0.24 (0.10)
At least 75% of peers belong to a gang	-0.23 (0.22)	0.09 (0.18)	-	-	-0.35 (0.24)
At least 75% of peers do volunteer work	-0.10 (0.17)	-0.35 (0.14)	-	-	-0.24 (0.12)
At least 75% of peers go to church regularly	-	-	-	0.01 (0.08)	0.05 (0.09)
At least 75% of peers in sports, clubs, school activities	0.19 (0.11)	-0.05 (0.12)	-	-	-
At least 75% of peers plan to go to college	-0.05 (0.11)	-	-	-0.05 (0.08)	-0.04 (0.08)
At least 75% of peers smoke	-0.28 (0.14)	-	-	-	-0.04 (0.10)
At least 75% of peers use illegal drugs	0.24 (0.16)	-	-	0.09 (0.10)	-0.12 (0.11)
At least 90% of peers belong to a gang	0.47 (0.33)	-	-	-	0.91 (0.35)
At least 90% of peers cut classes or school	-0.24 (0.17)	-	-	-	-
At least 90% of peers get drunk 1+ times a month	-	-	-	-	-0.06 (0.18)
At least 90% of peers go to church regularly	0.17 (0.23)	-0.22 (0.18)	-	-	-
At least 90% of peers have had sex	-0.46 (0.21)	-	-	0.15 (0.17)	-0.36 (0.19)
At least 90% of peers in sports, clubs, school activities	-0.14 (0.13)	0.21 (0.12)	-	-	0.12 (0.08)
At least 90% of peers plan to go to college	0.16 (0.15)	0.10 (0.12)	-0.22 (0.07)	-0.08 (0.09)	0.10 (0.09)
At least 90% of peers smoke	0.20 (0.19)	-0.22 (0.16)	-	0.15 (0.14)	-0.09 (0.15)
At least 90% of peers use illegal drugs	0.26 (0.19)	-	-	-	-
Census region: North Central	0.41 (0.13)	-0.19 (0.11)	-	-	-0.03 (0.09)
Census region: Northeast	0.31 (0.14)	-	-0.45 (0.08)	-0.21 (0.09)	0.18 (0.10)
Census region: West	0.31 (0.14)	-	-	-0.14 (0.09)	0.22 (0.10)
Enriching environment risk index	0.03 (0.07)	-	-	-0.17 (0.05)	0.13 (0.06)
Living in urban/rural area	-	-	0.14 (0.07)	0.16 (0.08)	_

Coefficient	HS	E	М	С	SS
Living in urban/rural area: Missing	-0.10 (0.21)	-	-	0.49 (0.19)	-0.30 (0.20)
Percent of peers belong to a gang: Missing	-	-	-	-0.34 (0.26)	-
Percent of peers use illegal drugs: Missing	-	-	-	-0.56 (0.22)	-
Percent of peers who do volunteer work: Missing	0.56 (0.53)	-0.46 (0.34)	-	0.38 (0.26)	-
Percent of peers who get drunk 1+ times a month: Missing	-	-0.38 (0.31)	-	-	-0.82 (0.31)
Percent of peers who go to church regularly: Missing	-0.36 (0.39)	-0.02 (0.33)	-	-	-
Percent of peers who have had sex: Missing	-0.21 (0.19)	-	-	-	-
Percent of peers who plan to go to college: Missing	-0.05 (0.49)	-0.29 (0.39)	-	0.56 (0.34)	-
Percent of peers who smoke: Missing	0.28 (0.40)	-	-	-	0.82 (0.41)
Physical environment risk index	-0.00 (0.00)	-	-	0.00 (0.00)	-0.00 (0.00)
School district size: At least 10,000	-	-	-	-	-0.20 (0.11)
School district size: At least 2,500	-0.07 (0.18)	-	-	-	-
School district size: At least 25,000	-	0.24 (0.12)	-	-	-
School district size: At least 5,000	-	-	-	-	0.24 (0.12)
School district size: Missing	-0.38 (0.10)	-0.01 (0.11)	-	0.09 (0.07)	-0.11 (0.09)
Youth reside in an MSA: In an MSA in central city	-	-	-	-0.09 (0.08)	-0.13 (0.08)
Youth reside in an MSA: Missing	-	-	-	-0.77 (0.30)	0.09 (0.36)
Youth reside in an MSA: Not in an MSA	-0.19 (0.13)	-0.08 (0.12)	-	-0.06 (0.09)	-0.21 (0.09)
Factor category: Childhood characteristics	and experiend	es			
Attended public primary school	-2.15 (0.66)	-	-	-	-0.12 (0.20)
Both biological parents live in the household when respondent was age 12	0.33 (0.20)	-	-	-	-
Ever repeated a grade	-0.63 (0.12)	-0.17 (0.12)	-0.04 (0.09)	0.09 (0.10)	-0.36 (0.11)
Ever seen someone shot by age 12	-0.17 (0.14)	-	0.20 (0.10)	0.21 (0.11)	0.08 (0.12)
Ever seen someone shot by age 12: Missing	-	-	-0.25 (0.25)	-	-
House or apartment broken into before age 12	-0.10 (0.13)	-	-0.09 (0.08)	-	-
House or apartment broken into before age 12: Missing	-	-	-	-	-0.06 (0.27)
Index of family routines	-	-	-	0.01 (0.01)	-0.02 (0.01)
Index of family routines: Missing	-	-	-	-	0.21 (0.17)
Respondent changed schools from ages 5– 12	-	-	-	-	0.62 (0.22)
Respondent has a learning disability	-	-	-0.20 (0.18)	-	0.09 (0.23)
Respondent has a learning disability: Missing	-	-	-	-	0.03 (0.15)
Respondent has a mental or emotional limiting condition	0.19 (0.25)	-	-	-	0.48 (0.28)

Coefficient	HS	E	М	С	SS	
Respondent has any limiting condition	0.04 (0.15)	-0.48 (0.12)	-0.02 (0.14)	-0.25 (0.11)	-0.23 (0.21)	
School type: Public	-	-	-	-	-0.12 (0.14)	
Spent 20+ hours in child care in first year of life	-	0.30 (0.11)	0.06 (0.07)	0.07 (0.07)	0.10 (0.08)	
Victim of bullying before age 12	-	-0.18 (0.11)	-0.01 (0.08)	-0.13 (0.08)	-0.04 (0.09)	
Victim of bullying before age 12: Missing	-	-0.23 (0.30)	-	-0.42 (0.25)	-	
Youth ever live through hard times	-	-	-0.18 (0.14)	-0.13 (0.15)	-0.04 (0.18)	
Factor category: Cognitive ability measured	ability measured at adolescence					
ASVAB score	0.01 (0.00)	-	-	-0.00 (0.00)	-0.00 (0.00)	
ASVAB score: Missing	-0.45 (0.12)	-0.04 (0.11)	-	0.03 (0.08)	-0.06 (0.09)	
Didn't take ACT	-1.90 (0.30)	-0.15 (0.14)	-	0.10 (0.08)	-0.27 (0.09)	
Didn't take SAT	-1.54 (0.22)	-0.17 (0.13)	-	0.37 (0.08)	-0.55 (0.09)	
Highest ACT score	-0.58 (0.45)	-0.44 (0.14)	-	-0.08 (0.08)	-0.21 (0.08)	
Highest ACT score: Unexplained missing	-1.11 (0.39)	0.46 (0.28)	-	-	-0.28 (0.17)	
Log of ASVAB score	0.08 (0.09)	0.17 (0.05)	-	-0.09 (0.07)	0.28 (0.10)	
SAT math score	-	-	-	0.11 (0.06)	0.00 (0.06)	
SAT math score: Unexplained missing	-0.87 (0.49)	-	-	0.19 (0.12)	0.05 (0.35)	
SAT verbal score	-0.17 (0.17)	-0.08 (0.09)	-	-0.17 (0.06)	-0.01 (0.07)	
SAT verbal score: Unexplained missing	-0.24 (0.51)	-0.16 (0.18)	-	-	-0.34 (0.34)	
Factor category: Adolescent characteristics	, behaviors, a	nd relationshi	ips			
Age at first sex	-	-	-0.03 (0.02)	-0.01 (0.02)	-	
Age first date is between 12 and 14	-	-	-	0.11 (0.07)	-	
Age first date: Explained missing	-	-0.46 (0.17)	-0.67 (0.14)	-0.75 (0.15)	-	
Age first date: Unexplained missing	-	-	-1.09 (0.24)	-0.73 (0.24)	-	
Age first time drink alcohol	-	-	-	0.06 (0.03)	-	
Age first time use cocaine or hard drugs: Unexplained missing	-	-	0.20 (0.24)	0.28 (0.24)	-	
Age first time use marijuana: Unexplained missing	-	-0.28 (0.29)	-	-	-	
Age when puberty began	-	-	-0.06 (0.03)	-	-	
Behavioral/emotional problems scale, youth report	-	-	-	0.05 (0.03)	-	
Belief about what method best prevents pregnancy: Birth control pill	-	-	-	0.22 (0.15)	-0.37 (0.15)	
Belief about what method best prevents pregnancy: Withdrawal	-	-	-	-	0.19 (0.13)	
Belief on the best method for STD prevention: Withdrawal	-	-	0.23 (0.14)	0.26 (0.15)	-	
Believes school discipline is fair	-0.25 (0.11)		-0.10 (0.07)	_	-0.16 (0.08)	
Believes school grading is fair	-	-	-	0.08 (0.09)	-	
Believes teachers are interested in students	-	-	-	0.15 (0.10)	-	
Delinquency score index, youth report	-0.01 (0.04)	-	-0.03 (0.03)	-0.05 (0.03)	-	

Coefficient	HS	E	м	С	SS
Did the respondent use birth control at first	-	-	-	0.09 (0.09)	-0.21 (0.11)
Sex				. ,	. ,
Did the respondent use birth control at first sex: Unexplained missing	-	-	-0.10 (0.12)	-	-
Did the respondent drink alcohol before age 18: Missing	-0.15 (0.16)	-	-	-	-
Did the respondent smoke an entire cigarette before age 18	-	-	-	-0.01 (0.19)	-
Did the respondent smoke an entire cigarette before age 18: Missing	-	-	-	-0.18 (0.13)	-
Did the respondent use marijuana before age 18	-	-	-	-0.06 (0.19)	-
Did the respondent use other drugs before age 18	-0.25 (0.18)	_	-	0.26 (0.14)	-
Did the respondent use other drugs before age 18: Missing	-0.16 (0.17)	-	-	-	-
Didn't smoke a cigarette	-	-	-0.12 (0.07)	-0.22 (0.18)	-
Didn't use cocaine or hard drugs	-	-	-0.24 (0.12)	-	0.12 (0.13)
Disruptions by other students get in the way of learning	-	-	-	0.08 (0.06)	-
Ever belonged to gang	-	-	-	0.19 (0.12)	-0.06 (0.14)
Ever employed as a teen	0.46 (0.18)	0.38 (0.16)	0.15 (0.14)	0.29 (0.15)	-
Ever employed as a teen for at least 50 weeks	0.33 (0.11)	0.94 (0.10)	0.15 (0.07)	0.02 (0.08)	-0.19 (0.07)
Ever gotten someone pregnant	-	-	-	0.74 (0.24)	-1.46 (0.39)
Ever had sex	-0.27 (0.11)	-	-	0.21 (0.09)	-0.33 (0.09)
Ever hurt at school: At least once	-	-0.25 (0.11)	0.15 (0.08)	-	-0.14 (0.09)
Ever hurt at school: Missing	-0.69 (0.55)	-	-	-	-
Ever hurt at school: Number of times	-	-0.01 (0.01)	-0.01 (0.01)	-	-
Ever in a fight at school	-	-	-	0.31 (0.10)	-0.15 (0.11)
Ever late to school without excuse	-	-	-0.25 (0.06)	-0.11 (0.07)	0.15 (0.08)
Ever run away from home	-	-0.26 (0.13)	-	-	-
Ever seen someone shot ages 12–18	-	-	-	0.28 (0.11)	-0.27 (0.12)
Ever seen someone shot ages 12–18: Missing	-	-	-	-0.35 (0.19)	-
Ever suspended from school	-0.30 (0.10)	-	-0.18 (0.08)	-	-0.15 (0.09)
Expected likelihood of attending college: 25% or less	-	-	-	-	-0.37 (0.24)
Has never used marijuana	-			0.20 (0.18)	-
Hasn't had sex by age 18	0.31 (0.17)	-	-0.08 (0.13)	-0.45 (0.10)	0.24 (0.10)
Log of the number of sexual partners by age 18	-0.15 (0.07)	-	-	0.04 (0.05)	-0.15 (0.06)
No previous pregnancies	0.34 (0.23)	-	-	-	0.34 (0.13)

Coefficient	HS	E	м	С	SS
Not had sex yet	-	-	-	-	0.12 (0.09)
Number days used marijuana in last 30 days	-0.01 (0.01)	-	-0.02 (0.01)	-0.01 (0.00)	-
Number of days absent from school	-0.01 (0.01)	-	-	-0.01 (0.00)	-0.02 (0.01)
Number of non-live births from previous pregnancies	1.28 (0.69)	-	-0.65 (0.48)	-	-
Number of non-live births from previous pregnancies: Missing	-	-	-	-0.57 (0.30)	-
Number of teen jobs: 2 or more	-	0.27 (0.11)	0.10 (0.08)	0.04 (0.09)	-
Number of teen jobs: 5 or more	-	-	0.09 (0.08)	0.19 (0.09)	-
Number of times changed schools from ages 13–18	-0.13 (0.04)	-	-	-0.05 (0.03)	-0.05 (0.03)
Number of times ever pregnant: Unexplained missing	-0.33 (0.28)	-	-	-	-
Number of times late to school without excuse	-	-	-	-0.01 (0.01)	0.01 (0.01)
Number of times late to school without excuse: Missing	-	-	-	0.35 (0.29)	-
Number of times used marijuana before or during school/work: Unexplained missing	-	-0.14 (0.33)	0.34 (0.16)	-	-
Optimism scale	-	-	0.02 (0.02)	-	-
Parental monitoring by residential father	-	-	0.02 (0.01)	0.01 (0.01)	-
Parental monitoring by residential mother	0.07 (0.02)	-	0.02 (0.01)	0.03 (0.02)	-
Percent chance has a college degree by Age 30, parent report	0.01 (0.00)	-	-	0.00 (0.00)	-
Percent chance has a college degree by Age 30, youth report	0.00 (0.00)	-	-	-	0.00 (0.00)
Percent chance in jail by age 20, parent report	-	-0.01 (0.01)	-0.01 (0.00)	-0.01 (0.01)	-
Percent chance in jail by age 20, youth report	-0.01 (0.01)	-	-	-0.01 (0.00)	-0.01 (0.00)
Percent chance works 20+ hours per week by age 30, parent report	-	-	-	0.00 (0.00)	-
Percent chance youth arrested by next year, youth report	-0.00 (0.00)	-	-0.00 (0.00)	-0.00 (0.00)	-
Percent chance youth arrested by next year, youth report: Missing	-	-	-	0.37 (0.20)	-
Percent chance youth get someone pregnant by next year, youth report	-	-	0.00 (0.00)	-	-
Percent chance youth has high school diploma by age 20, youth report	0.00 (0.00)	-	-	-	-
Percent chance youth is a parent by age 20, parent report	-	-	-	0.00 (0.00)	-
Percent chance youth is a parent by age 20, youth report	-	-	0.01 (0.00)	0.01 (0.00)	-

Coefficient	HS	E	М	С	SS
Percent chance youth is in school next year, parent report	0.00 (0.00)	-	-	-	-
Percent chance youth is in school next year, youth report	0.01 (0.00)	-	-	-0.00 (0.00)	0.01 (0.00)
Percent chance youth is pregnant by next year, youth report	-	-	-	0.01 (0.00)	-
Respondent has not used marijuana in the last month	-0.00 (0.13)	-	0.28 (0.08)	0.08 (0.10)	-
Respondent indicated limit breaking in the limit-breaking index	-0.19 (0.13)	-	-0.14 (0.09)	-	-0.14 (0.09)
Self-reported general health at age 18: Excellent	-	-	0.14 (0.07)	-	0.17 (0.07)
Self-reported general health at age 18: Good or better	-	-	0.13 (0.13)	0.36 (0.14)	-
Self-reported general health at age 18: Very good or better	-	-	0.07 (0.08)	0.04 (0.07)	-
Substance use index, youth report	-0.14 (0.06)	-	-	-0.04 (0.04)	-
Summary of grades received in high school	0.34 (0.05)	-	-	-	0.09 (0.03)
Summary of grades received in high school: Missing	0.57 (0.11)	-	-	0.11 (0.07)	-
Summary of grades received in middle school	0.19 (0.03)	-	0.05 (0.02)	-	0.07 (0.03)
Summary of grades received in middle school: Missing	-	-	-	-	0.78 (0.28)
There is a lot of cheating at school	-	-	-	0.10 (0.07)	-
Used a condom at first sex: Unexplained missing	-	-0.20 (0.28)	-	-	-
Victim of bullying ages 12–18	-	-	-0.15 (0.10)	-0.31 (0.10)	-
Respondent arrested by age 18	-0.23 (0.12)	-0.27 (0.13)	-	0.29 (0.10)	-0.15 (0.11)
Respondent charged with an assault by age 18	-	-0.53 (0.22)	-	-	-0.45 (0.34)
Respondent convicted of an offense by age 18	-0.28 (0.20)	-	-0.24 (0.18)	-0.28 (0.18)	-
Respondent charged with a property offense by age 18	-	-	-0.15 (0.18)	-	-
Was the respondent charged with a property offense by age 18	-	-	-	-	-0.26 (0.29)
Youth mental health scale	-	-	-	0.05 (0.02)	-

Source: National Longitudinal Survey of Youth, 1997 Cohort.

Note: Results represent the final regression of the step-wise variance decomposition. Standard errors are in parentheses. See Appendix A for a description of model specifications and covariate selection criteria.

AFDC = Aid to Families with Dependent Children; ASVAB = Armed Services Vocational Aptitude Battery; C = childbearing; E = employment; HS = high school; M = marriage; MSA = metropolitan statistical area; SS = success sequence pathway full model; STD = sexually transmitted disease.

Table B.4 Results of step-wise variance decomposition for economic self-sufficiency

Coefficient	Did not follow the success sequence	Followed success sequence
Pseudo r-squared (percent)	15	17
Factor category: Demographic characteristics		
Gender: Male	0.06 (0.11)	0.46 (0.10)
Race/ethnicity: Hispanic	0.17 (0.16)	-0.49 (0.14)
Race/ethnicity: Non-Hispanic Black	-0.14 (0.15)	-0.86 (0.20)
Race/ethnicity: Non-Hispanic other	0.41 (0.27)	-
Year of birth: 1980	-	0.13 (0.13)
Year of birth: 1982	0.25 (0.15)	-0.06 (0.16)
Year of birth: 1983	0.08 (0.15)	-0.07 (0.18)
Year of birth: 1984	-	-0.02 (0.18)
Year of birth: 1985	-	0.36 (0.38)
Factor category: Parent and family characteristics		
Age of biological mother at first birth	0.03 (0.01)	0.01 (0.02)
Age of biological mother at first birth: Missing	-	-0.21 (0.17)
Age of biological mother at respondent birth, squared	-	-0.00 (0.00)
Anyone in household received government benefits (for example, AFDC, food stamps, housing assistance)	0.11 (0.41)	-0.43 (0.13)
Biological mother age less than 20 at first birth	-	-0.09 (0.12)
Both biological parents live in the household when respondent was age 2	0.36 (0.26)	-
Both biological parents live in the household when respondent was age 2: Missing	-	-0.24 (0.13)
Either parent has served prison sentence: Missing	-	0.57 (0.41)
Family/home risk index	0.00 (0.00)	-0.00 (0.00)
Father is somewhat supportive of respondent	-0.26 (0.13)	-
Father is supportive of respondent: Missing	-	-0.10 (0.13)
Father served in military	-	-0.03 (0.10)
Father served in military: Missing	-	-0.26 (0.18)
Foreign born: Not foreign born	-	0.35 (0.15)
Household income	0.00 (0.00)	0.00 (0.00)
Household size (Wave 1)	-0.05 (0.04)	-0.04 (0.03)
Mother is not very supportive of respondent	-	-0.63 (0.29)
Mother is supportive of respondent: Missing	-	-0.18 (0.25)
Mother served in military	-0.36 (0.35)	0.35 (0.33)
Net worth of household according to parent	0.00 (0.00)	-
Net worth of household according to parent: Missing	0.22 (0.14)	0.26 (0.15)
Nonresponding parent 1's race/ethnicity: Hispanic	-	0.11 (0.23)
Nonresponding parent 1's race/ethnicity: Missing	-	-0.04 (0.11)
Nonresponding parent 2's race/ethnicity: Missing	-	-0.42 (0.27)
Nonresponding parent 2's race/ethnicity: Non-Hispanic Black	-	-0.51 (0.42)
Number of parents in household: 0	-	-0.14 (0.24)

Coefficient	Did not follow the success sequence	Followed success sequence
Number of parents in household: 1	-0.16 (0.28)	-
Parent has long-term health problem limiting employment	-	-0.05 (0.13)
Parent's general health is fair or poor	-0.18 (0.19)	-0.11 (0.14)
Parent's spouse/partner has long-term health problem limiting employment	-	-0.09 (0.17)
Parent's spouse/partner's general health is fair or poor	-0.39 (0.23)	-0.09 (0.17)
Religion: Catholic	0.24 (0.13)	0.32 (0.11)
Religion: Non-religious	-	-0.35 (0.28)
Religion: Other religion (not Christian)	-	-0.50 (0.26)
Residential father supportive of residential mother index: Missing	-0.39 (0.14)	-
Residential father's parenting style: Authoritarian	-	-0.17 (0.12)
Residential father's parenting style: Permissive	-	-0.23 (0.11)
Residential mother supportive of residential father index	-	-0.02 (0.02)
Residential mother supportive of residential father index: Missing	-	0.20 (0.13)
Residential mother's parenting style: Permissive	-0.21 (0.11)	-
Residential mother's parenting style: Uninvolved	-	0.26 (0.14)
Residential/biological father has completed at least high school	-	0.02 (0.12)
Residential/biological father has completed at least some college	-	0.10 (0.11)
Residential/biological father's education: Missing	-0.64 (0.19)	-0.15 (0.14)
Residential/biological mother has completed at least high school	-	0.20 (0.12)
Residential/biological mother has completed at least some college	-	-0.10 (0.11)
Residential/biological mother has completed college	0.28 (0.13)	-0.01 (0.15)
Residential/biological mother's education: Missing	0.87 (0.28)	-0.14 (0.20)
Responding parent's race/ethnicity: Non-Hispanic Black	-	0.47 (0.21)
Square root of net worth of household according to parent	-	0.00 (0.00)
Youth lives with both biological parents	-0.15 (0.29)	0.21 (0.12)
Factor category: Childhood characteristics and experiences		
At least 25% of peers belong to a gang	-	-0.17 (0.09)
At least 25% of peers do volunteer work	0.28 (0.11)	-0.21 (0.10)
At least 25% of peers get drunk 1+ times a month	-	0.19 (0.12)
At least 25% of peers have had sex	-	0.35 (0.18)
At least 25% of peers smoke		0.19 (0.13)
At least 25% of peers use illegal drugs	-	0.21 (0.11)
At least 50% of peers do volunteer work	-	-0.19 (0.11)
At least 50% of peers plan to go to college	-	0.13 (0.12)
At least 50% of peers smoke	-	-0.22 (0.11)
At least 75% of peers do volunteer work	-0.53 (0.18)	-
At least 75% of peers plan to go to college	-	0.14 (0.09)
At least 90% of peers do volunteer work	-	-0.29 (0.22)
At least 90% of peers get drunk 1+ times a month		-0.37 (0.18)
At least 90% of peers have had sex	-	0.41 (0.17)
	Did not follow the	Followed success
--	---------------------	------------------
Coefficient	success sequence	sequence
At least 90% of peers smoke	-0.18 (0.24)	0.03 (0.15)
At least 90% of peers use illegal drugs	-0.52 (0.23)	-
Census region: North Central	-	-0.18 (0.10)
Census region: Northeast	0.38 (0.15)	-
Census region: West	-	0.20 (0.11)
Percent of peers use illegal drugs: Missing	-0.47 (0.38)	-
Percent of peers who do volunteer work: Missing	-	-0.11 (0.36)
Percent of peers who go to church regularly: Missing	-0.58 (0.38)	-
Percent of peers who plan to go to college: Missing	-0.27 (0.56)	-0.29 (0.37)
Percent of peers who smoke: Missing	-0.46 (0.56)	-
Physical environment risk index	-	-0.00 (0.00)
School district size: At least 10,000	-	-0.21 (0.10)
School district size: Missing	-0.18 (0.13)	-
Youth reside in an MSA: Missing	-	-0.32 (0.39)
Factor category: Cognitive ability measured at adolescence		
Attended public primary school: Missing	-	0.23 (0.10)
Ever repeated a grade	-	-0.02 (0.12)
House or apartment broken into before age 12	-	0.13 (0.11)
Index of family routines	-	-0.01 (0.01)
Respondent changed schools from ages 5–12	-	0.38 (0.23)
Respondent has a learning disability	-	0.14 (0.25)
Respondent has a mental or emotional limiting condition	-0.74 (0.35)	0.83 (0.28)
Respondent has any limiting condition	-	-0.32 (0.23)
School type: Public	-	-0.24 (0.17)
Spent 20+ hours in child care in first year of life	-	0.20 (0.10)
Spent 20+ hours in child care in first year of life: Missing	-	-0.11 (0.20)
Victim of bullying before age 12	-	-0.07 (0.10)
Victim of bullying before age 12: Missing	-	0.03 (0.28)
Factor category: Cognitive ability meas	ured at adolescence	
ASVAB score	-	-0.01 (0.00)
Didn't take ACT	-0.42 (0.13)	-0.17 (0.12)
Didn't take SAT	-0.47 (0.13)	-0.46 (0.12)
Highest ACT score	-	0.21 (0.12)
Highest ACT score: Unexplained missing	-0.54 (0.27)	-0.25 (0.22)
Log of ASVAB score	0.32 (0.08)	0.37 (0.09)
SAT math score	0.06 (0.08)	0.07 (0.09)
SAT math score: Unexplained missing	-0.28 (0.46)	-
SAT verbal score	-	0.00 (0.10)
SAT verbal score: Unexplained missing	-0.16 (0.45)	-0.38 (0.16)
Factor category: Adolescent characteristics, behaviors, and rela	tionships	
Age at first menstrual period	-	0.13 (0.04)

Coefficient	Did not follow the	Followed success
Age at first time smoked a cigarette	0.08 (0.05)	-
Age at first time smoked a cigarette: Unexplained missing	-	-0.31 (0.22)
Age first date is 15 or older	-0.27 (0.12)	-0.28 (0.09)
Age first date: Explained missing	-0.49 (0.22)	-0.38 (0.22)
Behavioral/emotional problems scale, youth report	-0.06 (0.05)	-
Belief on the best method for STD prevention: Withdrawal	-	0.37 (0.18)
Believes teachers are interested in students	-0.26 (0.18)	-
Did respondent use birth control at first sex	-	-0.19 (0.11)
Did the respondent drink alcohol before age 18	0.06 (0.13)	-
Did the respondent use marijuana before age 18	0.35 (0.18)	-
Disruptions by other students get in the way of learning	0.22 (0.11)	-
Ever employed as a teen for at least 50 weeks	0.20 (0.12)	0.44 (0.09)
Ever in a fight at school	-	-0.14 (0.11)
Ever late to school without excuse	-	0.16 (0.09)
Ever seen someone shot ages 12–18	-	-0.14 (0.12)
Ever suspended from school	-	-0.13 (0.10)
Feels safe at school	0.43 (0.18)	-
Hasn't had sex by age 18	-0.22 (0.13)	-
Number days used marijuana in last 30 days	-0.02 (0.01)	-0.01 (0.01)
Number of teen jobs: 2 or more	0.17 (0.13)	-
Number of times late to school without excuse	0.02 (0.01)	-
Number of times used marijuana before or during school/work	-0.35 (0.23)	-0.19 (0.15)
Optimism scale	0.07 (0.04)	-
Percent chance has a college degree by 30 years old, youth report	-	0.00 (0.00)
Percent chance youth get someone pregnant by next year, youth report	-	0.01 (0.00)
Percent chance youth is in school next year, parent report	-	0.00 (0.00)
Respondent has not used marijuana in the last month	-	0.13 (0.11)
Self-reported general health at age 18: Excellent	0.18 (0.11)	0.09 (0.10)
Self-reported general health at age 18: Very good or better	-	0.13 (0.10)
Summary of grades received in high school	0.11 (0.05)	0.03 (0.04)
Summary of grades received in middle school	-	0.06 (0.03)
There is a lot of cheating at school	0.14 (0.11)	0.21 (0.09)
Victim of bullying ages 12–18	-	-0.30 (0.13)
Respondent arrested by age 18	-	-0.09 (0.12)
Respondent charged with a burglary, theft, or robbery by age 18	-	-0.27 (0.20)

Source: National Longitudinal Survey of Youth, 1997 Cohort.

Note: Results represent the final regression of the step-wise variance decomposition. Standard errors are in parentheses. See Appendix A for a description of model specifications and covariate selection criteria.

AFDC = Aid to Families with Dependent Children; ASVAB = Armed Services Vocational Aptitude Battery; MSA = metropolitan statistical area; STD = sexually transmitted disease.

Our employee-owners work nationwide and around the world. Find us at **mathematica.org** and **edi-global.com**.



Mathematica, Progress Together, and the "spotlight M" logo are registered trademarks of Mathematica Inc.

Mathematica Inc.